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Where  
have we  
come from?

Prime Super has been managing 
working Australian’s retirement 
savings for 22 years now. Forged 
as the super fund for farmers 
and agriculture, in recent years 
Prime Super expanded its focus 
to the regions of Australia 
more generally and then to the 
Health and Aged care sectors. 
Most recently a partnership was 
formed with the RCSA to enable 
a strategic positioning in the 
recruitment sector.

1996
Merger of a number of smaller 

super funds to create Australian 
Primary Super Fund

(Rural Employees Agricultural 
Plan, National Superannuation 

Plan, Australian Farm 
Superannuation Plan, Gro-Safe 

Superannuation Fund)

2008 2014
Prime Super rebranded to better 

reflect it’s diverse membership 
base.

Australian Hardware & Timber 
Industries Super Fund (AHTIS) 

and Hort Super merge into 
Australian Primary Super Fund 
and the name is changed to 

Prime Super.

2004

Health Industry Plan merged  
into Prime Super.
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Our Vision 

To be a major multi-industry  
profit for members  
superannuation fund.

About  
Prime Super

Prime Super is an 
independent profit-to 
member super fund.  
We have provided super 
and retirement solutions  
to Australians for more 
than 20 years. 

From beginnings in rural Australia, 

Prime Super has expanded to 

represent a diverse range of 

workers across multiple industries. 

Our ‘surprisingly straightforward’ 

solutions take the complexity out 

of super for our members, helping 

them grow, manage and protect 

their wealth. We currently look after 

more than $3.9 billion in funds for 

our more than 115,000 members.

Values 

Honesty 
We act honestly and are open and 

transparent in all our dealings – 

members can trust the information 

they receive 

Accountability 

We work to clear objectives and 

hold ourselves accountable – 

members are assured by the 

integrity of the information they 

receive

Respect 
Treat all we deal with in a courteous 

and professional manner – 

members can feel confident to 

contact us with any questions they 

may have and have their request 

dealt with 

We care; we streamline; we empower

Our Mission

To contribute to the financial 
growth and security of our 
members’ superannuation 
accounts.



Chair and CEO’s  
message 
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A steady ship continues  
to deliver strong 
performance

In a year where superannuation and  
financial services have drawn significant 
public attention – not always positive  
– we are pleased to report that Prime Super 
has been a steady ship during sometimes 
rough weather.

Each year public attention on 
superannuation increases and we don’t 
expect that to abate in years to come. And 
nor should it. Superannuation is compulsory 
for almost every worker in Australia so there 
should be regular scrutiny of the industry 
that has the privilege to manage the funds.

But we believe it’s important to remember to 
keep our eye on the investment ball so that 
our members continue to benefit, even while 
the industry maybe distracted with enquiries 
and the media and political debate that 
accompanies any enquiry.

Pleasingly this year Prime Super continued 
to perform strongly over the short and long 
term. More than 90 per cent of our members 
are invested in the MySuper option and the 
result for the year has been pleasing – top 
quartile performance over  
3, 5 and 7 years. 

Steady member numbers  
and managed funds
The 2018 financial year saw growth in 
members and employers and we are 
pleased to confirm that we now look after 
more than 115,000 members and more than 
$3.9 billion of funds under management.

Increased interest in retirement 
offerings
An increasing number of members are 
staying with the fund at the point of 
retirement. These members are transitioning 
into the Income Streams product where they 
can draw a regular income stream rather 
than taking out benefits in a lump sum. We 
believe this is a great option for members as 
it assists them to manage their income and 
the remaining balance continues to attract 
earnings for them. 

Focus on pension phase to 
increase 
The retirement phase will continue to grow 
as an increasing number of workers retire 
and the balances they bring to retirement 
are higher. 

We are just starting to see the Baby 
Boomers retire which is the first generation 
of workers who have had superannuation 
contributed to their accounts for a number 
of years. 

This signals the beginning of a continued 
period of growth for super funds’ 
retirement products as members look for 
good products to house their balances. 
Prime Super will be putting a big focus on 
informing members and potential members 
that they do not need to join or set up a new 
super fund. 

Member research
We undertook a member research project 
in April to assist us to better understand 
members’ needs and current satisfaction 
levels with the Fund. The majority of our 
members are pleased with the products 
and services we deliver and the results 
reconfirm that the fund is heading in the 
right direction. They also provided valuable 
insight about the things we can do better  
for our members in the future.

Industry reviews
It would be difficult not to notice the extent 
of investigation the industry has been 
subject to this year. 

The Federal Budget contained a strong 
focus on super with its proposed changes 
on low balances and insurance. Then 
the Productivity Commission released its 
recommendations and there will be a focus 
on superannuation at the Royal Commission 
after the date of this report which will no 
doubt generate media attention.

Prime Super supports ongoing review of the 
industry where the benefits to the member 
is the key focus. We will continue to watch 
these reviews closely and provide updates 
when any recommendations become policy 
and are implemented.

The year ahead
Prime Super has evolved from being a 
super fund that serves the rural agricultural 
industry to a multi-industry fund that largely 
serves all of Australia. Our overall aim is 
to reinforce with Australians that anyone 

is welcome to join the fund and we have 
focused that message to the agricultural, 
health and aged care, and recruitment 
industries. 

We’re excited to announce that on  
31 December 2018, Prime Super will merge 
with Combined Super. This is great news 
for Prime Super members. As a larger fund, 
we’ll continue to provide members with 
the stability and service that they expect 
from us, but also have capacity for new and 
improved member benefits and services. 
Merging with Combined Super will also 
position us well for the future – it will ensure 
we benefit from economies of scale, with 
the aim of delivering improvements to 
the financial wellbeing of every one of our 
members.

We are also strongly focused on the 
members who have been with us the longest 
– those from rural Australia. Feedback from 
these members and employers indicates 
that a real strength for the fund is that Prime 
Super staff visit our members and employers 
wherever they are located. So that can mean 
outback Australia. We are proud to receive 
that feedback and believe it is key to be 
where your customers are, as well as being 
available on the phone and the internet  
for them.

Thank you
Lastly, on behalf of the Board, we would 
like to thank our staff and executives who 
have worked together to deliver positive 
outcomes for our members and employers.

  
Alan Bowman  
Chairman

Lachlan Baird 
Chief Executive Officer
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$236M
Employer 
Contributions

$44M
Member Voluntary 
Contributions

$28M
Insurance benefits 
paid 

$228M
Benefits paid 
to members



Funds under  
management

2017/18 
at a glance
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Net investment income Accumulation  
members

Engagement  
measures

Income stream 
members

Benefits paid  
to members

Insurance benefits  
paid to members

Total number  
of members

115,800
115,251 (2016–17) 

$3.9B
$3.6B (2016–17)

$326M
$365M (2016–17)

$28.1M
$27.6M (2016–17)

$228M
$224M (2016–17)

Total number  
of members

1,119
1,079 (2016–17) 

Member online 
registrations

8,831

 
DMC  
downloads

1,858

Mobile app 
downloads

1,190

Roll ins to 
Prime Super

4,482

Investment  
switches

760

Number of voluntary 
contributions

12,220 

Average account 
balance of a Prime 
Super member

$28,690
$25,470 (2016–17) 

Average account 
balance of a Prime 
Super member

$176,299
$161,313 (2016–17)

Invested in the 
MySuper option

95.5%
93.7% (2016–17)

Invested in the 
Balanced option

75.4%
65% (2016–17)

Financial highlights



Administration Reserve
All member fees are paid into the 
Administration Reserve and are used to pay 
costs. As the Trustee operates the Fund 
on a not-for-profit basis, any surplus after 
payment of current costs could be applied 
to the benefit of members at the Trustee’s 
discretion.

Investment Reserve
Investment returns earned by the Fund 
for all investment options are held in an 
Investment Reserve between the time 
they are received by the Fund, and the 
time they are credited to members. Any 
returns, positive or negative, achieved on 
the Investment Reserve are considered 
investment earnings of the Fund and will 
also be distributed to members.

Due to occasional unexpected investment 
distributions, or estimated tax liabilities and 
rounding of investment returns to whole 

cents, it is not practical to distribute the 
entire Investment Reserve. The balance 
of any carryforward investment reserve is 
likely to be between zero and around 0.5% 
of the Fund’s assets which is available for 
distribution to members in subsequent 
years.

Operational Risk Reserve
The Operational Risk Reserve (ORR) is 
legislatively required to specifically cover 
potential losses arising from operational 
risks that may affect the Fund’s business 
operations. It is set at a target amount of 
0.25% of the total value of the Fund (as at  
30 June each year).

The ORR has been fully funded by Prime 
Super. However the Trustee has the 
discretion to top up the ORR in the future 
with a deduction from members’ accounts if 
required. The balance of the Administration 
Reserve, Investment Reserve and 
Operational Risk Reserve accounts are:

Year  
Ended

Administration 
Reserve 

$’000
% of  
FUM

Investment 
Reserve 

$’000
% of  
FUM

Operational Risk 
Reserve 

$’000
% of  
FUM

2018  $5,929 0.15%  $3,766 0.10%  $9,830 0.25%

2017  $25,296 0.71%  $4,874 0.14%  $8,691 0.25%

2016  $18,501 0.59%  $19,618 0.63%  $7,792 0.25%

Reserving  
policies

The Trustee operates 
three reserves: the 
Administration Reserve, 
the Investment Reserve 
and the Operational  
Risk Reserve (ORR),  
which are all invested  
in the MySuper option.
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Investment  
update*

9

Year in review
The 2017-18 financial year started on a 
positive note, reflecting a global uptick in 
growth that continued on from the previous 
year. Synchronised worldwide economic 
activity was even shared with the long-
dormant Eurozone, which continued to gain 
ground in inflation, unemployment and 
growth off a relatively low starting base. 

However, this optimism was not maintained 
for the entire year as escalating geo-political 
risks began to impact share markets in the 
beginning of 2018. Notably, the potential 
for an all-out trade war after United States 
President Donald Trump announced steel 
and aluminium import tariffs had a profound 
effect, increasing uncertainty and leading 
to falls across global share markets in the 
March 2018 quarter. Political headlines were 
not just limited to the US, though — Chinese 
leader Xi Jinping’s removal of the country’s 
two-term limits for presidents and a stalled 
Italian parliament following a general 
election are two other examples (although 
with smaller impacts on markets).

From this perspective, 2018 witnessed 
a gradual change in sentiment. The 
International Monetary Fund (a global 
body that aims to ensure the stability of the 
international monetary system) published 
a less optimistic outlook on global growth 
in April, and backed this up with downward 
revisions to its projections in July 2018. The 
changes were primarily the result of global 
trade and political tensions, which it viewed 
as the most significant near-term threat, and 
negative surprises to economic activity that 
have been emerging since the start of 2018. 

Despite the rocky road throughout the year, 
financial markets finished on an overall 
positive note for risk assets. Share markets 
posted strong returns for the period after 
recovering most of the March quarter falls. 

Australia
Australia has recorded its 27th year 
of economic expansion, which is 
unprecedented in the developed world. 
The economy was buoyed by strong 
employment data, rising commodity prices 
and optimistic consumer confidence, albeit 
tempered by a shrinking trade balance and 
a weakening residential housing market. The 
Reserve Bank of Australia opted for caution, 
leaving its cash rate at 1.5% — a rate 
unchanged since August 2016 — reflecting 
global concerns around trade tensions and 
a potential Chinese economic slowdown, 
but also domestic risks associated with 
high Australian household debt levels, the 
property market and growing funding costs 
for the nation’s banks. Markets consider a 
rate hike is unlikely until the end of 2019, at 
the earliest. 

Australian equities returned 13.2% over the 
past year and were a strong contributor to 
the performance of Prime Super’s pre-mixed 
options, alongside international equities 
which rose by 11.5% on a fully-hedged basis. 

Overall, an escalating trade 
war environment could 
derail the broadbased 
economic recovery that 
is currently underway. 
However, it is also possible 
that concerns about a 
trade war may subside if 
the US and China reach a 
conciliatory deal, which 
would reduce uncertainty  
for financial markets.

* Source: Whitehelm Advisers.
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China
The Chinese economy’s growth over the 
financial year exceeded the 6.5% target rate 
set by Chinese authorities. Nonetheless, the 
rate of economic expansion slowed to its 
lowest pace in two years, with several pivotal 
indicators in the industrial, construction and 
retail sectors decelerating. The slowdown 
was in line with expectations, foreshadowing 
a mostly stable output as trade tensions 
intensify. 

In the light of the nascent trade conflict with 
US, China may shift business to Europe or 
Asia going forward, in addition to retaliating 
with its own tariff rates on imports from the 
US. 

United States
The US economy continued to lead global 
economic growth, recording its best annual 
Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth in 
over three years. However, the Treasury’s 
package of tax cuts, meant to endow 
consumer spending over the year, also 
caused inflation to grow at its fastest pace 
since 2012. In addition to this, the Federal 
Reserve continued to unwind its economic 
stimulus by increasing interest rates three 
times during the year, while the other major 
central banks have not yet commenced 
normalisation of monetary policy. Although 
the momentum was obfuscated to some 
extent by President Trump’s geopolitical 
manoeuvring and escalation of conflicts with 
other nations, the US continues to lead the 
global growth recovery. 

While the introduction of tariffs on imports  
from the European Union, Canada, Mexico  
and China was a key highlight for financial 
markets, President Trump’s year also 
involved a landmark summit with North 
Korea leader Kim Jong-un in Singapore in 
June. The meeting somewhat appeased 
international uncertainty over fears of a clash 
between the two nations, with an agreement 
reached on North Korea’s denuclearisation 
in exchange for the US withdrawal of forces 
from the Korean Peninsula. Relations with 
other countries, however, have not been as 
seemingly amicable, with Trump attracting 
the ire of allies by calling for the readmission 
of Russia to the G7, and the renegotiation of 
the North American Free Trade Agreement 
remaining a contentious issue. 

Europe
After starting the financial year strongly, the 
Eurozone began to soften in 2018. That said, 
expectations of GDP growth and inflation over 
the near term remain positive. Unemployment 
finished the year at close to its lowest level in 
almost a decade. 

Consistent with the global market theme, geo 
politics dominated the headlines during the 
year. Brexit continued to cause ructions in the 
United Kingdom’s cabinet, while the Euro-
sceptic outcome of Italy’s protracted general 
election and uprising in Spain’s Catalonia region 
also contributed to market uncertainty, to name 
a few. These events caused large, short-term 
moves in European bond and share markets. 

Trade Wars
President Trump’s approach to trade was one of the key concerns to 
global markets at the beginning of his presidency. Over the first half of 
the 2018 calendar year, the risk of trade wars between the US and its 
trading partners escalated quickly as Trump challenged beliefs about 
the benefits of free trade and globalisation. 

After initially proposing tariffs in March 2018 of 25% and 10% on steel 
and aluminium imports, respectively, the US administration backtracked 
and provided exemptions on these commodities for a number of 
trading partners including Australia, Argentina and Brazil.

In the short-term, the European Union, Canada and Mexico were not 
so lucky, with the US upholding tariffs as at 30 June 2018, even on its 
long-standing allies. Not surprisingly, countries that did not receive an 
exemption expressed their disapproval to the US administration, with  
some already vowing to reciprocate with tariffs of their own on US 
goods.

Implications For Financial Markets
Investors are understandably worried about the potential impact of an 
all-out trade war between the US and the rest of the world, but most 
notably between the US and China as the two largest economies. 

From a US perspective, the tariffs are good news for American steel 
and aluminium producers because a tax on foreign imports makes their 
products relatively cheaper. However, it is bad news for American steel 
and aluminium-consuming industries. From an Australian perspective, 
the steel and aluminium tariffs on their own are unlikely to have 
significant implications, although an escalation to a broader trade war 
would likely have consequences for Australian exporters. This would 
likely be most felt in terms of commodities, because commodity prices 
and volume of exports are inextricably tied to global growth, particularly 
Chinese growth. More broadly, countries that are involved in facing 
or implementing tariffs will expect to see implications on economic 
growth, inflation, corporate earnings and unemployment. 

Overall, an escalating trade war environment could derail the broad-
based economic recovery that is currently underway. However, it is also 
possible that concerns about a trade war may subside if the US and 
China reach a conciliatory deal, which would reduce uncertainty for 
financial markets. 



Super fund performance
for the year ended 30 June 2018

Investment option
1-year 

return*
3-year 

return*
5-year 

return*
7-year 

return*
10-year 
return*

MySuper 9.41% 8.52% 9.80% 9.23% 6.05%

Managed Growth 11.19% 9.85% 11.45% 10.61% 5.25%

Conservative 5.41% 5.82% 6.69% 6.49% 4.22%

Income Focused1 6.11% n/a n/a n/a n/a

Alternatives 8.29% 11.16% 13.27% 11.65% 5.53%

Australian Shares 17.21% 11.77% 11.56% 10.55% 6.97%

International Shares 11.17% 9.02% 12.44% 12.19% 7.27%

Property 14.11% 21.62% 17.75% 15.52% 8.03%

Fixed Interest 2.43% 3.74% 4.28% 4.95% 5.15%

Cash 1.95% 2.19% 2.35% 2.63% 3.01%

* The net earnings of the investment option for the specified period ending 30 June 2018.

1. Option first offered to members on 1 September 2017.

TTR income stream performance
for the year ended 30 June 2018

Investment option
1-year 

return*
3-year 

return*
5-year 

return*
7-year 

return*
10-year 
return*

Balanced 9.41% 9.48% 11.14% 10.56% 6.87%

Managed Growth 11.19% 10.94% 13.02% 12.13% 5.80%

Conservative 5.41% 6.50% 7.64% 7.45% 4.82%

Income Focused 6.11% n/a n/a n/a n/a

Alternatives 8.29% 12.61% 15.24% 13.42% 6.31%

Australian Shares 17.21% 13.18% 13.11% 12.07% 8.03%

International Shares 11.17% 9.58% 13.73% 13.55% 8.26%

Property 14.11% 24.33% 20.11% 17.60% 9.05%

Fixed Interest 2.43% 4.26% 4.93% 5.71% 5.94%

Cash 1.95% 2.47% 2.68% 3.04% 3.52%

* The net earnings of the investment option for the specified period ending 30 June 2018.

Retirement income stream performance
for the year ended 30 June 2018

Investment option
1-year 

return*
3-year 

return*
5-year 

return*
7-year 

return*
10-year 
return*

Balanced 11.10% 10.05% 11.48% 10.80% 7.03%

Managed Growth 13.26% 11.63% 13.44% 12.42% 5.99%

Conservative 6.31% 6.80% 7.82% 7.58% 4.91%

Income Focused 7.27% n/a n/a n/a n/a

Alternatives 9.74% 13.11% 15.55% 13.63% 6.45%

Australian Shares 21.06% 14.41% 13.84% 12.58% 8.38%

International Shares 12.46% 10.00% 13.99% 13.73% 8.38%

Property 16.62% 25.24% 20.63% 17.96% 9.28%

Fixed Interest 2.84% 4.40% 5.01% 5.77% 5.99%

Cash 2.31% 2.59% 2.75% 3.09% 3.56%

Please note that past performance should not be taken as an indication of future 
performance. The returns stated for each investment option in the super fund and income 
stream are those achieved by the particular option over the year and are not necessarily the 
return a member will receive. A member’s actual rate of return will depend on the timing of 
any transactions, any deductions, any switches made during the period, and the actual mix of 
investment options that makes up the member’s account. 

How investment earnings are 
allocated to members’ accounts
Crediting rates

Investment earnings are calculated on 
member’s account balance on a monthly 
basis (generally by the 12th business day) 
after deductions for insurance premiums 
(where applicable) and all applicable taxes, 
fees and charges. On rare occasions due 
to unforeseen circumstances, this may 
occur after the 12th business day. They are 
allocated to member accounts’ at 30 June 
each year, when members switch investment 
options, or upon exit from the Fund.

If a member closes their super account 
during the year (ie, withdraws their balance 
as a lump sum and ceases to be a member), 
the member’s account balance will be 
credited or debited with the last determined 
monthly crediting rates up to the end of 
the month. From the end of that previous 
month, until the date of withdrawal, the 
Trustee applies an interim crediting rate 
which is generally 0%.

The Trustee reserves the right to apply a 
different rate in times of significant market 
fluctuation and to adjust investment 
earnings where it believes it would be unfair 
or a breach of fiduciary duty not to act to 
protect the interests of all members of  
the Fund.

From 1 July 2018, Prime Super will move  
to a weekly crediting rate.

If you need more information about how 
earnings are applied to your account, please 
contact Prime Super on 1800 675 839.

Investment  
update (continued)

Investment performance 
The following tables show the historical 
rates of return for each investment option 
for the super fund at 30 June 2018. All 
returns are net of investment-related 
costs such as fees charged by investment 
managers, investment expenses incurred 
by the Fund, and any applicable tax. Please 
note that no income tax is levied on an 
income stream account.

Prime Super Annual Report 2018
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* The net earnings of the investment option for the specified period ending 30 June 2018.



Green Investment Bank
In August 2017, Prime Super helped 
finance the acquisition of the United 
Kingdom’s Green Investment Bank 
(GIB) by leading infrastructure 
investors. The financing was secured 
against GIB’s holdings in seven 
offshore windfarms in the UK.

Why we chose to invest:

1  The windfarm portfolio generates 
predictable Government-backed 
cashflows, supported by the 
UK’s transparent and favourable 
regulatory framework for 
renewable energy.

2  The portfolio is diversified across 
multiple locations and carries 
little construction risk. The 
underlying projects benefit from 
high-quality sponsors including 
Siemens, RWE, Orsted and E.ON.

3  The transaction provides both 
a safe, asset-backed return 
for investors and supports the 
global transition to a low carbon, 
environmentally-friendly energy 

future.

Vopak Terminal Eemshaven
In September 2017, Prime Super 
acquired 45% of Vopak Terminal 
Eemshaven (VTEH) in Eemshaven, 
Netherlands. VTEH is a state-of-the-
art tank terminal which was purpose 
built for the long-term storage of 
strategic petroleum reserves and has 
been operational since 2012. The 
terminal comprises 11 tanks with a 
total storage capacity of 660,000 cubic 
metres, currently used for storing 
diesel and gasoline, and is well 
connected through a deep-water  
jetty for seagoing vessels.

Why we chose to invest:

1  Vopak Terminal Eemshaven has 
a long-term contract for 100% of 
its total capacity until September 
2037 with the Dutch Government.

2  VTEH is a strategic storage 
facility for the Dutch 
Government, the contracts 
guarantee a stable revenue 
stream through the duration 
of the contract. Operations 
at the terminal are limited to 
replenishment of products 
every five years which reduces 
operational risk.

3  The terminal has a service 
agreement with Vopak, the 
world’s largest independent tank 
storage player, which also owns 
10% of the shares in VTEH. 

Igasamex
In September 2011, Prime Super 
acquired a stake in Igasamex, a 
Mexican natural gas distribution 
company focused on the construction 
and operation of ‘lateral’ transmission 
pipelines. Further stakes were 
acquired in 2013 and 2016, making 
Prime Super the leading shareholder.

Why we chose to invest:

1  The company has long-term 
contracts with obligatory 
minimum payments in a position 
of natural quasi-monopoly, 
providing stable high cash  
flow visibility.

2  The attractive growth potential 
of the industrial sector and the 
ability of the management to 
secure new customers, which 
have been key drivers in the 
material growth of the business 
that has occurred under Prime 
Super’s ownership.

3  The competitiveness of natural 
gas relative to alternative fuels in 
an attractive Mexican economy 
which is expected to continue to 
grow strongly.

Investments at a glance

Investment  
update (continued)

ESG – responsible investing
Prime Super believes that considering 
Environment, Social and Governance factors 
(ESG) in the investment process helps 
establish investments risk and opportunities 
over the long term and improves investment 
returns for members. Prime Super’s 
process ensures ESG factors are taken 
into account in all our investment decision 
in both direct investments and through 
mandated and pooled fund managers. The 
Trustee delegates responsibility of ESG 
management to its investment consultant 
and custodian. 

Investment Consultant (Whitehelm Capital) 

Whitehelm Capital must have the 
appropriate processes in place to monitor 
and identify ESG activities of our investment 
managers and direct investments. To this 
end, Whitehelm Capital has recently been 
admitted as an official signatory to the 
United Nations Principles for Responsible 
Investment (UNPRI). UNPRI is the leading 
and most recognised body in Responsible 
Investment. 

Custodian (National Asset Servicing)

National Asset Servicing is required to 
have products and processes in place to 
monitor Prime Super’s investments as and 
when instructed by Prime Super. As National 
Asset Servicing follows the framework 
of the National Australia Bank, they are 
expected to continuously improve how 
they incorporate environmental, social 
and governance (ESG) risk into their risk 
management framework, policies and 
process at both a group and business level. 

Exclusion Process

The integration of ESG in the investment 
process does not mean the exclusion of 
particular companies on ethical grounds. 
Generally, the Trustee’s ESG investment 
approach has not been to exclude particular 
companies or sectors but rather to use 
engagement and proxy voting to influence 
the behaviour of companies in which 
Prime Super invest. However, there are 
circumstances where a sector or stock are 
excluded if Prime Super considers that an 
investment is not appropriate for the Fund 
to the extent that it may have:

• Negative impact on the reputation  
of the Fund. 

• Negative impact on the returns  
of the Fund. 

Specific Exclusions 

The following specific investment 
opportunities are excluded from the 
investment strategy of Prime Super.

• Tobacco - A direct investment in a 
manufacturer or distributor of tobacco 
and tobacco related products is excluded 
from the investment strategy of Prime 
Super. The exclusion is based on the 
following considerations:

 – tobacco is an addictive product with 
proven adverse health impacts;

 – the risk of a class action against 
tobacco companies is heightened in 
the future on the basis of allegations 
of tobacco manufacturers knowingly 
adding addictive elements to their 
products to ensure future sales;

 – the cost of health treatments of those 
adversely affected by consumption of 
the product is significant and could 
potentially be pushed back onto 
the tobacco manufacturer (similar 
to the outcome of the liability on 
James Hardie for the manufacture 
and distribution of asbestos related 
products). Such a finding would have 
a significant negative effect on the 
future earnings potential of the tobacco 
manufacturer;

 – tobacco manufacturers and distributors 
are actively marketing their products to 
developing countries where restrictions 
on the use and consumption of tobacco 
is not as strict in the western world, 
leading to heightened risk of future 
class action, and a negative earnings 
outlook.

This exclusion applies to those companies 
where a majority of the business’s income 
or business assets are engaged in the 
production and/or distribution of tobacco 
and tobacco related products. It does not 
apply to those businesses where tobacco is 
an ancillary element of the overall business, 
such as retailers that sell cigarettes, which 
are a legal product in Australia.

From 1 January 2019 there will be a new 
investment option focussing on socially 
responsible investing and you should refer 
to the Member Guide from then for details.
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Proxy voting
Prime Super takes a strong interest in the 
corporate governance practices within the 
companies in which it invests members’ 
funds. Accordingly Prime Super, as a 
shareholder, actively exercises the right to 
vote on various company related matters for 
those companies in which shares are held 
directly. The process is governed by the 
Proxy Voting Policy developed by the Fund.

Proxy voting enables shareholders to vote 
on proposals influencing a company’s 
operations including changes that are aimed 
at generating better financial outcomes, the 
election of directors, governance matters, 
and the remuneration of directors and 
executives.

The Fund Trustee votes on all company 
resolutions of the Fund’s Australian shares. 
The Trustee will vote on these resolutions 
through a combination of votes cast directly 
by the Trustee, and votes cast by Investment 
Managers on behalf of the Trustee. Where 
votes are cast by an Investment Manager on 
behalf of the Trustee, the Trustee ensures 
that its voting intentions are appropriately 
registered, including by overriding the 
voting instruction of the Investment 
Manager if required.

The Trustee has appointed an independent 
proxy voting research adviser to assist in 
the overall review and assessment of voting 
obligations on all companies invested 
in by the Fund, and to provide voting 
recommendations and research on all the 
Trustee’s voting resolutions.

The Trustee utilises the advice of the 
Investment Manager and the proxy voting 
research adviser in the process of making a 
decision on votes to be cast at a meeting  
of a company. 

A summary of the votes cast on all 
resolutions of Australian companies  
owned by the Fund for the relevant six 
month period can be found at www.
primesuper.com.au/who-we-are/
governance-and-disclosures/

Income Focused Option 
The Income Focused Option was available 
for members to invest in from 1 September 
2017. The asset allocation of the option 
focuses on the stability of income returns 
while minimising the risk of capital loss 
and volatility of its returns. The portfolio is 
constructed with diversified asset classes 
thus ensuring that the option is not driven 
by downside shocks in any particular asset 
class. These asset classes are selected by 
their existing income stream and reliability 
of continuing to achieve it. 

Rank Share name
 % of holding  

to the Fund

1 BHP BILLITON LIMITED (BHP) 1.53%

2 CSL LIMITED 1.20%

3 WESTPAC BANKING CORPORATIONORD F/PD 
SHARES

1.11%

4 COMMONWEALTH BANK OF AUSTRALIA 1.05%

5 AUSTRALIA AND NEW ZEALAND BANKING 
GROUP LIMITED

0.84%

6 NATIONAL AUSTRALIA BANK 0.70%

7 ARISTOCRAT LEISURE LTD 0.63%

8 RIO TINTO LTD 0.62%

9 MACQUARIE GROUP LTD 0.50%

10 SANTOS LIMITED 0.40%

11 TREASURY WINE ESTATES LIMITED 0.36%

12 WOOLWORTHS GROUP LIMITED 0.35%

13 BLUESCOPE STEEL LIMITED 0.33%

14 RELIANCE WORLDWIDE CORP LTD 0.33%

15 COSTA GROUP HOLDINGS LTD 0.31%

16 WESFARMERS LIMITED ORD FULLY PAID SHARES 0.29%

17 LENDLEASE GROUP 0.29%

18 FLIGHT CENTRE TRAVEL GROUP LIMITED 0.27%

19 COMPUTERSHARE LIMITED 0.27%

20 ORIGIN ENERGY LTD 0.21%

21 QBE INSURANCE GROUP LIMITED 0.21%

22 DOMINOS PIZZA ENTERPRISES LIMITED 0.20%

23 INSURANCE AUSTRALIA GROUP LTD 0.19%

24 WOODSIDE PETROLEUM LIMITED 0.19%

25 GOODMAN GROUP 0.17%

Rank Share name
 % of holding  

to the Fund

26 SOUTH32 LIMITED ORDINARY FULLY PAID 0.17%

27 IDP EDUCATION LTD 0.17%

28 ORORA LTD 0.17%

29 FISHER AND PAYKEL HEALTHCARE 0.16%

30 BWX LIMITED 0.16%

31 INDEPENDENCE GROUP NL 0.16%

32 COCHLEAR LTD 0.15%

33 WHITEHAVEN COAL LIMITED 0.15%

34 TELSTRA CORPORATION LTD 0.15%

35 QANTAS AIRWAYS LTD 0.15%

36 BRAMBLES LIMITED  
ORDINARY FULLY PAID

0.14%

37 STOCKLAND 0.14%

38 BEACH ENERGY LTD 0.14%

39 ILUKA RESOURCES LIMITED 0.13%

40 ARB CORPORATION LIMITED ORDINARY  
FULLY PAID

0.13%

41 EVOLUTION MINING LTD 0.13%

42 AURIZON HOLDINGS LTD 0.13%

43 CHALLENGER LIMITED 0.12%

44 BORAL LIMITED 0.11%

45 WORLEY PARSONS LIMITED 0.11%

46 GALAXY RESOURCES LIMTED 0.11%

47 CIMIC GROUP LTD 0.11%

48 SEVEN GROUP HOLDINGS LTD 0.11%

49 DOWNER EDI LIMITED 0.11%

50 CYBG PLC 0.10%

Investment  
update (continued)
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*  The net earnings of the investment option for the period 3 years, 5 years and  
10 years ending 30 June 2018.

Past performance is not an indication for future performance.

*  The net earnings of the investment option for the period 3 years, 5 years and 10 years ending 30 June 2018.

Past performance is not an indication for future performance.

All members have access to  
a range of investment options.  
You can choose any combination  
of these options and can direct 
future contributions into the same 
options or a different combination 
of options. To increase efficiency 
and decrease transaction costs 
across all investment options, the 
cash flow for all options is managed 
through the MySuper investment 
option. Members can select from 
the following investment options.

Our  
investment  
options

Pre-mixed options
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MySuper
Suitability
Members who seek 
moderate to high returns 
over the medium to long-
term and are prepared to 
accept some fluctuation in 
returns over the short-term.

Investment style
Invests in a diversified range 
of investments, a mixture 
of growth and defensive 
assets.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) 
(after tax and investment 
expenses) by at least 3% 
p.a. over the long-term.

Risk level
Medium-high. Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
4 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
7 years or longer.

Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target  
allocation %

Growth assets 61.4
Equity
 Australian Shares 5.0-40.0 21.0
 International Shares
  Developed Markets 5.0-35.0 23.0
  Emerging Markets 0.0-10.0 6.0
 Private Equity 0.0-12.5 1.0
Infrastructure 0.0-25.0 6.5
Property 0.0-25.0 3.9
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-22.5 0.0

Defensive assets 38.6
Infrastructure 0.0-25.0 6.5
Property 0.0-25.0 2.6
Fixed Income
 Australian 0.0-15.0 3.0
 Overseas 0.0-25.0 7.0
Cash 0.5-30.0 10.0
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-22.5 9.5
 Alternatives 0.0-10.0 0.0
  Absolute Return Strategies 0.0-10.0 0.0

Total 100

Past investment returns (%)*

10 years

6.05

5 years

9.80

3 years

8.52

1 year 10 years5 years3 years1 year

9.41
7.03

11.48
10.0511.10

Managed Growth
Suitability
Members who seek 
moderate to high returns 
over the medium to long-
term.

Investment style
Invests primarily in growth 
assets.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform CPI (after tax 
and investment expenses) 
by at least 4.1% per annum 
over the long-term.

Risk level
High likelihood of negative 
returns – less than 5 in 20 
years.

Time horizon 
10 or more years

Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target  
allocation %

Growth assets 77.85
Equity
 Australian Shares 10.0-50.0 28.5
 International Shares
  Developed Markets 10.0-50.0 30.5
  Emerging Markets 0.0-10.0 8.5
 Private Equity 0.0-12.5 1.0
Infrastructure 0.0-25.0 5.75
Property 0.0-20.0 3.6
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-15.0 0.0

Defensive assets 22.15
Infrastructure 0.0-25.0 5.75
Property 0.0-20.0 2.4
Fixed Income
 Australian 0.0-10.0 0.0
 Overseas 0.0-10.0 5.5
Cash 0.0-10.0 2.0
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-15.0 6.5
 Alternatives 0.0-5.0 0.0

Total 100

Past investment returns (%)*

10 years

5.25

10 years

5.99

5 years

11.45

5 years

13.44

3 years

9.85

3 years

11.63

1 year

11.19

1 year

13.28

Alternatives
Suitability
Members who seek strong 
returns over the long-term 
and are prepared to accept 
a higher level of risk to 
achieve this.

Investment style
Invests primarily in unlisted 
assets.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform CPI (after tax 
and investment expenses) 
by at least 3% p.a. over the 
long-term.

Risk level
Medium-High. Likelihood of 
a negative return – less than 
4 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
10 or more years 

Investment mix Alternatives

Asset class Range %
 Target  
allocation %

Growth assets 40.05
Private Equity 0.0-25.0 3.5
Infrastructure 0.0-75.0 22.75
Property 0.0-50.0 13.8
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-50.0 0.0

Defensive assets 59.95
Infrastructure 0.0-75.0 22.75
Property 0.0-50.0 9.2
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-50.0 28.0
 Alternatives 0.0-20.0 0.0

Total 100

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Past investment returns (%)*

10 years

5.53

10 years

6.45

5 years

13.27

5 years

15.55

3 years

11.16

3 years

13.11

1 year

8.29

1 year

9.74

Accumulation – MySuper Accumulation – Managed growth Accumulation – AlternativesIncome Streams – Balanced Income Streams Income Streams 



*  The compound average effective rate of net earnings of the investment option for the period 
3 years, 5 years  
and 10 years ending 30 June 2017.

Past performance is not an indication for future performance.

Income Focused – our newest investment option

How the option works

Income earnings (net of investment fees and taxes) for the Income 
Focused option are distributed on a monthly basis and are 
transferred to the Cash option. Members may choose to keep the 
earnings in the Cash option or re-invest the money into another 
investment option.

Setting up your account

We suggest that when you invest in the Income Focused option, 
you also invest some money in the Cash option to help fund the 
fees and charges related to the Income Focused option, thereby 
reducing the need to draw down on your capital investment. If 
you choose not to invest some money in the Cash option, we will 
automatically transfer your income earnings into the Cash option 
in the month after you invest in the Income Focused option. 
You may wish to review your investment strategy to ensure that 
it meets your needs. If you do not want your money in the Cash 
option, you are able to transfer the money to the option of your 
choice.

Sector optionsPre-mixed options (continued)
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*  The net earnings of the investment option for the period 3 years, 5 years and  
10 years ending 30 June 2018.

Past performance is not an indication for future performance.

Option first offered to members on 1 September 2017.

Past performance is not an indication for future performance.
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Conservative
Suitability
Members who value security 
over returns.

Investment style
Invests primarily in 
defensive assets with the 
aim of protecting the 
value of a member’s net 
investment.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform CPI (after tax 
and investment expenses) 
by at least 1.5% p.a. 
over the long-term.

Risk level
Low-Medium. Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
2 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
5 or more years

 
Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target  
allocation %

Growth assets 25.7
Equity
  Australian Shares 0.0-20.0 8.5
  International Shares
  Developed Markets 0.0-20.0 9.0
 Private Equity 0.0-7.5 1.0
Infrastructure 0.0-15.0 4.5
Property 0.0-12.5 2.7
Other
  Credit Opportunities 0.0-10.0 0.0

Defensive assets 74.3
Infrastructure 0.0-15.0 4.5
Property 0.0-12.5 1.8
Fixed Income
  Australian 5.0-25.0 12.0
  Overseas 5.0-40.0 12.5
Cash 20.0-50.0 38.0
Other
  Credit Opportunities 0.0-10.0 5.5
 Alternatives 0.0-5.0 0.0

Total 100

Past investment returns (%)*

10 years

4.22

10 years

4.91

5 years

6.69

5 years

7.82

3 years

5.82

3 years

6.80

1 year

5.41

1 year

6.31

Income Focused
Suitability
Members who seek income 
supplement over capital 
growth.

Investment style
Invests in diversified 
range of investments with 
predominant focus on yield.

Investment return 
objective
To provide an income of 
2.5% per annum (before 
taxes and fees) above the 
RBA cash rate over a rolling 
three year period.

Risk level
Medium. Likelihood of 
negative return – less than 3 
in 20 years.

Time horizon 
5 or more years

Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target  
allocation %

Growth assets 39.5
Shares
 Australian Shares 10.0-30.0 15.0
 International Shares
  Developed Markets 10.0-30.0 10.0
Infrastructure 0.0-15.0 10.0
Property 0.0-15.0 4.5
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-15.0 0.0

Defensive assets 60.5
Infrastructure 0.0-15.0 10.0
Property 0.0-15.0 3.0
Fixed Income
 Australian 0.0-30.0 0.0
 Overseas 10.0-40.0 22.5
Cash 5.0-40.0 15.0
Other
 Credit Opportunities 0.0-15.0 10.0

Total 100

Australian Shares
Suitability
Members who seek strong 
returns over the long-term 
and are prepared to accept 
a higher level of risk to 
achieve this.

Investment style
Invests in Australian listed 
companies and returns 
are expected to vary 
significantly year to year.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform (before 
tax and investment 
expenses) the S&P/ASX300 
Accumulation Index.

Risk level
Very high Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
7 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
10 or more years

 
Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target  
allocation %

Growth assets 100
Equity
  Australian Shares 100.0 100

Total 100

 
 
 
Past investment returns (%)*

10 years

6.97

10 years

8.38

5 years

11.56

5 years

13.84

3 years

11.77

3 years

14.41

1 year

17.21

1 year

21.06

Accumulation – Conservative Accumulation – Australian Shares Income Streams Income Streams 



Property
Suitability
Members who seek 
moderate to high returns 
through investing in 
property.

Investment style
Invests in property via 
listed and unlisted property 
vehicles.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform (after tax and 
investment expenses) CPI 
by at least 3% pa over the 
long term.

Risk level
Medium-High. Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
4 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
10 or more years 

 
 
Investment mix

Asset class Range %
Target 

allocation %
Growth assets 60

Property 0.0-100.0 60
Defensive assets 40

Property 0.0-100.0 40
Total 100

Past investment returns (%)*

10 years

8.03

10 years

9.28

5 years

17.75

5 years

20.63

3 years

21.62

3 years

25.24

1 year

14.11

1 year

16.62

International Shares
Suitability
Members who seek strong 
returns over the long-term 
and are prepared to accept 
a higher level of risk to 
achieve this.

Investment style
Invests in international 
listed companies and 
returns which are subject 
to foreign exchange risk, 
and are expected to vary 
significantly year to year.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform before tax 
and investment expenses 
the weighted average of 
MSCI World (ex-Australia) 
Index (in AUD) and MSCI 
Emerging Markets Index (in 
AUD) before hedging.

Risk level
Very high. Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
7 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
10 or more years

Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target 
allocation %

Growth assets 100
Equity
International Shares
 Developed Markets 0.0-100.0 89.0
 Emerging Markets 0.0-100.0 11.0

Total 100

Past investment returns (%)*

10 years

7.27

10 years

8.38

5 years

12.44

5 years

13.99

3 years

9.02

3 years

10.00

1 year

11.17

1 year

12.46

Sector options (continued)

Fixed Interest
Suitability
Members who seek 
moderate returns for a 
moderate level of risk.

Investment style
Invests in domestic and 
international fixed interest 
securities. Losses may occur 
over some periods.

Investment return 
objective
To outperform (before tax 
and investment expenses) 

the weighted average 
of major Australian and 
international bond indices 
and global floating 
rate credit (targeting 
outperformance above the 
Bloomberg AusBond Bank 
Bill Index) hedged to $A.

Risk level
Low-Medium. Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
2 in 20 years.

Time horizon 
5 or more years

Investment mix

Asset class Range %
Target 

allocation %
Defensive assets 100

Fixed Income
 Australian 0.0-100.0 40
 Overseas 0.0-100.0 60

Total 100

Past investment returns (%)*

10 years

5.15

10 years

5.99

5 years

4.28

5 years

5.01

3 years

3.74

3 years

4.40

1 year

2.43

1 year

2.84

Cash
Suitability
Members who place 
security of their assets over 
returns.

Investment style
Invests solely in short-term, 
low-risk money market 
securities and is expected 
to produce returns that are 
moderately higher than CPI.

Investment return 
objective
To perform in line (before 
tax and investment 
expenses) with Bloomberg 
AusBond Bank Bill Index.

Risk level
Very low. Likelihood of 
negative returns – less than 
0.4 in every 20 years.

Time horizon 
Any time period

 
 

Investment mix

Asset class Range %
 Target 
allocation %

Defensive assets 100
Cash 100 100

Total 100

 
Past investment returns (%)*

10 years

3.01

10 years

3.56

5 years

2.35

5 years

2.75

3 years

2.19

3 years

2.59

1 year

1.95

1 year

2.31

The Fund uses a number of investment managers to manage the assets of each investment option. This is intended to reduce investment 
volatility. The Trustee may remove or appoint new investment managers at any time. Visit primesuper.com.au for details.

The Trustee may directly buy or sell derivative instruments and permits investment managers to use them. However, derivative investments 
may not be used by the Trustee or investment managers for speculative purposes. The use of derivatives is monitored and a derivatives risk 
statement has been prepared by the Trustee that limits the use of derivatives to reducing costs, hedging, arbitrage and other defensive 
purposes.

We periodically review our investment options. The investment mix for any investment option can change from time-to-time because of 
these reviews and may deviate from the asset allocations shown if we consider it prudent to do so. Current investment allocations are 
available at primesuper.com.au.
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Investments  
of the fund
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The investments of the fund at 30 June 2018 are as follows. Investments that make up more than 5% or more of the value of the fund are 
indicated with an asterisk (*).

30/06/2018 30/06/2017 

Asset Class/Fund Manager $'000
% of Total 

Fund $'000
% of Total 

Fund

Equity - Australian Shares 

Ausbil Australian Equities  176,614 4.51%  169,059 4.78%

Bennelong Australian Equities  148,670 3.80%  125,494 3.55%

Macquarie Pure Indexed Australian Equities  181,680 4.64%  173,043 4.89%

Nikko AM Australian Share Income Fund  3,235 0.08%  2,979 0.08%

Tribeca Small Cap Australian Equities  82,758 2.11%  59,942 1.69%

Vinva Australian Equities*  264,283 6.75%  257,790 7.29%

857,240 21.89% 788,321 22.28%

Equity - International Shares

AQR Global Enhanced Equity Fund*  294,974 7.53%  235,939 6.67%

MFS Global Equity Trust  121,194 3.09%  103,933 2.94%

PanAgora Dynamic Global Equity (Ex Tobacco) Fund*  294,723 7.52%  237,533 6.71%

Realindex Global Share Fund (Screened)  125,078 3.19%  101,342 2.86%

Transition AC  1 0.00%  -   0.00%

 835,970 21.34%  678,747 19.19%

Equity - Emerging Markets

iShares Indexed Emerging Markets IMI Equity Fund*  220,458 5.63%  208,998 5.91%

 220,458 5.63%  208,998 5.91%

Cash

CBA Capital Growth Account - 90 days  181,230 4.63%  177,290 5.01%

CBA Capital Growth Account - 185 days  15,833 0.40%  15,475 0.44%

CFS Wholesale Institutional Cash Fund*  342,152 8.74%  325,050 9.19%

FX Spot Transactions  -   0.00%  -   0.00%

 539,215 13.77%  517,815 14.64%

Fixed Income - Australian Fixed Interest

AMP Capital Wholesale Australian Bond Fund  - 0.00%  13,300 0.38%

Vanguard Aust Fixed Interest Index Fund  117,716 3.01%  90,029 2.54%

117,716 3.01% 103,329 2.92%

Fixed Income - International Fixed Interest

AllianceBernstein Global Floating Rate Credit*  225,768 5.76%  199,664 5.64%

iShares Global Bond Index Fund  36,797 0.94%  27,147 0.77%

iShares Global Diversified Bond Fund  - 0.00%  6,072 0.17%

 262,565 6.70%  232,883 6.58%

30/06/2018 30/06/2017 

Asset Class/Fund Manager $'000
% of Total 

Fund $'000
% of Total 

Fund

Infrastructure

Emerging Markets Infrastructure Fund 4,574 0.12%  4,279 0.12%

GasValpo 23,879 0.61%  24,847 0.70%

Igasamex 28,176 0.72%  25,103 0.71%

Igasamex Two 51,713 1.32%  46,072 1.30%

Igasamex Three  7,264 0.19%  6,471 0.18%

International Parking Group 16,848 0.43%  16,973 0.48%

Investec Global Aircraft Fund 1,452 0.04%  4,142 0.12%

Peninsula Link 30,354 0.77%  30,581 0.86%

Peninsula Link Two 18,108 0.46%  18,244 0.52%

Rowville Transmission Facility 11,613 0.30%  12,164 0.34%

SAE Waste to Energy  52,369 1.34%  49,943 1.41%

Southern Water 28,108 0.72%  32,485 0.92%

Southern Water 2  15,149 0.39%  17,508 0.49%

Storrun Vindkraft Onshore Wind 21,302 0.54%  22,618 0.64%

Worsley Multi Fuel Cogen Plant  50,744 1.30%  49,467 1.40%

Vopak Terminal Eemshaven  42,897 1.10%  -   0.00%

Changhwa Wind Farm  249 0.01%  -   0.00%

 404,799 10.34%  360,897 10.20%

Property

111 Alinga Street - Infrastructure House  45,546 1.16%  45,354 1.28%

50 Miller Street Trust 66,227 1.69%  61,490 1.74%

AVELS II Trust 455 0.01%  455 0.01%

ALP Trust No 2 130 0.00%  130 0.00%

AVELS III Trust 550 0.01%  550 0.02%

Blackstone Real Estate Part VI 1,795 0.05%  2,690 0.08%

Gresham Prop No.3 Dev Trust 105 0.00%  308 0.01%

Gresham Prop No.3 Inv Trust 1 0.00%  350 0.01%

Lend Lease Communities Fund 1 273 0.01%  299 0.01%

Macquarie Real Estate Equity Fund No 7 492 0.01%  492 0.01%

Royale Investment Trust 64,686 1.65%  46,383 1.31%

Citilink Bowen Hills Brisbane  8,678 0.22%  -   0.00%

 188,938 4.82%  158,501 4.48%
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30/06/2018 30/06/2017 

Asset Class/Fund Manager $'000
% of Total 

Fund $'000
% of Total 

Fund

Other - Credit Opportunities

Alpha Trains Junior Debt 49,785 1.27%  47,296 1.34%

Arqiva Debt 28,451 0.73%  27,744 0.78%

Aunor Senior Secured Loan  47,313 1.21%  46,146 1.30%

Calvin Capital Loan  28,783 0.73%  27,355 0.77%

IFM Super Loans Trust 143 0.00%  248 0.01%

Infrastructure Credit 50,603 1.29%  71,657 2.03%

Sydney Airport Debt 19,151 0.49%  19,295 0.55%

TDF Term Loan  47,996 1.23%  45,162 1.28%

Yorkshire Water Fund  26,913 0.69%  25,574 0.72%

Green Investment Bank Loan  30,353 0.77%  -   0.00%

 329,491 8.41%  310,477 8.78%

Other - Private Equity

AIF Capital Asia III LP  3,718 0.09%  4,803 0.14%

AIF Capital Asia IV LP  10,255 0.26%  8,318 0.24%

CM Capital Venture Trust 4A  986 0.03%  2,059 0.06%

CM Capital Venture Trust 4B  986 0.03%  2,059 0.06%

HarbourVest Dover St VII Cayman Fund LP  1,284 0.03%  2,916 0.08%

HarbourVest IPE Partners IV Partnership Fund LP  - 0.00%  896 0.03%

HarbourVest Partners VII Cayman Buyout Fund LP  2,632 0.07%  3,243 0.09%

HarbourVest Partners VII Cayman Ventures Fund LP  1,957 0.05%  2,830 0.08%

PA Private Capital Fund 2  211 0.01%  216 0.01%

Partners GP Euro Buyout 2008 (B) LP  9,918 0.25%  11,679 0.33%

Partners GP Secondary 2008 LP 5,122 0.13%  7,558 0.21%

 37,071 0.95%  46,577 1.32%

Other - Absolute Return Strategies

PineBridge Global Dynamic Asset Allocation Fund  63,081 1.61%  52,169 1.47%

Schroders Real Return CPI +5% Fund  92,956 2.37%  76,673 2.17%

Invoice Account  51 0.00%  -   0.00%

 156,088 3.99%  128,842 3.64%

30/06/2018 30/06/2017 

Asset Class/Fund Manager $'000
% of Total 

Fund $'000
% of Total 

Fund

Other - Derivatives

Credit Opportunities Swaps (328) -0.01% (939) -0.03%

Infra Credit Swaps (1,779) -0.05% (2,460) -0.07%

Alternatives FX Overlay Portfolio (14,285) -0.36% 684 0.02%

Developed Overeas Equity FX Overlay Portfolio (11,728) -0.30% 2,194 0.06%

AllianceBernstein Global Floating Rate Credit (4,754) -0.12% 2,920 0.08%

Macquarie Australian Equities 37 0.00% (14) 0.00%

Vinva Australian Equities 25 0.00% (74) 0.00%

 (32,812) -0.84%  2,311 0.07%

Total investments 3,916,739 100.00% 3,537,698 100.00%



Prime Super is committed 
to better corporate 
governance practices and 
has in place a governance 
framework that facilitates 
effective and efficient 
decision-making and 
accountability, while 
creating value for its 
members.

Corporate Structure  
(who runs the fund)
The Trustee, Prime Super Pty Ltd, is 
responsible for managing the Fund. 
The Fund is governed by a Trust deed 
which, among other things, sets out the 
entitlements of members and obligations  
of the Trustee.

As a governing body, the Board is 
responsible and accountable to the 
members. For day-to-day running of  
the business, the Board has delegated  
the authority to the CEO and other 
executive leaders.

Commentary on Directors
All of the directors are independent except 
for two, who are representatives of the 
Australian Workers Union (AWU) and the 
National Farmers Federation (NFF) who  
are approved by the Board.

The Board meets regularly to discuss 
management of the Fund and set the 
strategic direction for the Fund including 
determining policies and procedures.

The Board conducts an annual assessment 
of its performance and its effectiveness in 
light of changing financial services sector, 
especially the superannuation environment, 
facilitated by an external firm.

The Trustee has established a number of 
committees, which are appointed by the 
Board, to assist in managing its functions 
and responsibilities. Directors, or their 
subset, sit on these committees.

A list of all committees and committee 
members is listed as follows: 

Risk Management  
and Compliance
Prime Super is a mid-sized Super Fund 
that has regularly provided top quartile 
performance and returns to its members. 
Risk is a part of life and brings both, 
uncertainty and opportunity.

To help Prime Super gain the maximum 
benefit and continuously improve its 
performance, an effective risk governance 
framework was established to assist in 
managing uncertainties to achieve the best 
outcome for employers and members. Risk 
governance is seen as an essential part of 
Prime Super’s overall corporate governance 
responsibilities. 

Corporate  
Governance 

The risk governance includes the culture 
and the arrangements - risk management 
framework, appetite, strategy, identification 
of its risks, processes and adequate 
resources that have been put in place.  
Prime Super also identifies emerging 
risks and takes into account material risk 
exposures that are categorized under the 
following headings:

• Strategic and Tactical risks

• Governance risks

• Operational risks

 – Theft, fraud and AML/CTF

 – Business Continuity/disaster  
recovery plan.

 – Data governance and security risk  
of cyber-crime.

 – Outsourced service provider.

 – Inadequate resources – human, 
financial, IT resources.

• Investment and Financial risks

• Insurance risks

Prime Super’s aim is to: 

• Continually improve the management  
of risks 

• Better understand the reward-risk 
balance, and 

• Reduce the risks to acceptable levels  
and within established appetite. 

To understand the superannuation 
landscape and its environment, Prime Super 
has a philosophy of risk-based decision 
making. Prime Super outsources many of 
its operations as it believes in leveraging 
effective and efficient outcomes for its 
members. 

Prime Super is committed to a sound system 
of risk oversight and management and 
internal control to identify, assess, monitor 
and manage material risks related to the 
conduct of our activities. 

Prime Super is also committed to enhancing 
its risk maturity and sees risk as an enabler 
to make good decisions. Prime Super 
seeks to balance its efforts in the risk and 
compliance spaces and see both  
as crucial to running the Fund effectively and 
efficiently. 

This year has also seen changes/movements 
in the financial services industry. The 
likes of the prudential inquiry into the 
Commonwealth Bank, Productivity 
Commission assessing the efficiency and 
competitiveness in the superannuation 
system, Royal Commission into misconduct 
in the banking and financial services sector 
have revealed some interesting practices 
in the industry. However, these revelations 
will assist in Primer Super assessing its own 
practices and strengthen its already strong 
and robust compliance and risk frameworks. 
Prime Super will continue to improve its 
governance and build on its already strong 
foundations which are underpinned by 
integrity and a high ethical standard from 
the Board level down.

Committees
Investment Committee 
Gerard Parlevliet (Chair),  
Alan Bowman, Duncan Fraser,  
Martin Day

Audit, Compliance & Risk Committee 
David Cooper (Chair), Liam O’Brien, 
Duncan Fraser, Jacqueline Kelly

Claims Committee 
David Cooper (Chair), Liam O’Brien, 
Duncan Fraser

Remuneration Committee 
All directors are members of  
this committee
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What it is
As a profit for members superannuation fund 
the distribution job is all about efficiently 
getting Prime Super in front of workers 
and retirees who will benefit from investing 
their retirement savings with a competitive 
fund that seeks to make super surprisingly 
straightforward. We think that qualifies us as 
a good choice for most people.

What we did
The key method of engagement with 
members and employers, the distribution 
team were active throughout the year with 
key highlights being:

• More than 16,000 new members joined 
the fund

• 250 converted some or all their super to  
a post retirement product

• Employers made contributions on behalf 
of 70,000 members

• 8,831 member online registrations,  
1,858 DMC downloads and 1,190 mobile 
app downloads.

What members got
• $245M employer contributions and $36M 

member contributions

• 4,500 rollovers for $30M

• $31.94M for members (because things 
don’t always go the way we plan) and 
97.81% of claims were approved

How we operate
Our distribution strategy relies partly on 
employers and industry bodies to engage 
with members. We work with businesses 
and organisations who act as advocates 
for their employees and members. We 
work with employers of choice who care 
deeply for their workers and their wellbeing. 
Superannuation is an important contribution 
to long term wellbeing and a successful 
financial future. Partners we work with share 
this appreciation and together we work 
to deliver the best outcome we can for 
members through our products and services, 
including financial education and advice.

We also have direct distribution. Individuals 
join the fund directly by engaging with us 
online or by completing an application 
form and nominating Prime Super as their 
preferred super fund.

Both forms of distribution are complimented 
by our team of regional and relationship 
managers. The team operate across the 
country to promote Prime Super and 
provide education and advice on super for 
employers, partners and members.

Why we operate this way
Our distribution model is both efficient 
and personal. We recognize that most of 
the time superannuation is not a top of 
mind subject, so promoting our brand 
as part of the employment relationship 
or an industry association are ways to 
be present when super does become an 
important topic for people. We also learn 
a lot about the changing nature of work 
through our partners and this helps Prime 
Super to change and adapt to the needs 
of our members as they move through life 
changing jobs and careers with increasing 
regularity.

The personal side of our distribution 
strategy is available when and where 
members want it; online, by telephone and 
face to face. We are excited to be there 
when super becomes top of mind whether 
it’s just to answer a technical question or 
to provide advice on the best way for a 
member to decide on something important 
about their financial future.

Distribution  
report 

1  Mark Ashburn 
Melbourne 
0438 537 035 
mashburn@primesuper.com.au

2  Billie Atanasova 
Melbourne 
0403 714 606 
batanasova@primesuper.com.au

3  Nick Birt 
Western Victoria & Tasmania 
0458 000 745 
nbirt@primesuper.com.au

4  Scott Boyle 
Southern New South Wales, 
Australian Capital Territory 
02 6931 5120 or 0488 989 444 
sboyle@primesuper.com.au
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5  George Frangeskakis 
Eastern Victoria 
0488 441 880 
gfrangeskakis@primesuper.com.au

6  Geoff Higgins 
Central New South Wales 
02 6882 6774 or 0488 072 222 
ghiggins@primesuper.com.au

7  Karen Hyland 
South East Queensland 
0409 030 722 
khyland@primesuper.com.au

8  Eddie Isaac 
North & Central Queensland, 
Northern Territory 
0488 999 711 
eisaac@primesuper.com.au

Relationship Managers

9  Radek Kotlarczyk 
Western Australia 
0429 410 426 
rkotlarczyk@primesuper.com.au

10  Annette Mackay 
Northern New South Wales 
0488 588 161 
amackay@primesuper.com.au

11  Chris Pole 
South Australia 
0488 588 233 
cpole@primesuper.com.au 

12  Mark Redman 
Sydney 
0488 448 552 
mredman@primesuper.com.au
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Where we operate
Our members work and live all over 
Australia, so that’s where we are. Our 
team are on the ground in capital 
cities and regional centres. We travel 
thousands of kilometres each year to 
meet with employers, partners and 
members because that’s the way they 
want to interact. Our website and 
member app also have tens of thousands 
of users each year because some people 
just prefer to be online when it comes to 
their super.

13  Gil Sebbag 
Sydney 
0468 308 820 
gsebbag@primesuper.com.au

14  Rod Stewart 
Melbourne 
0428 558 158 
rstewart@primesuper.com.au

15  Alisha Wilde 
Western Australia 
0437 049 314 
awilde@primesuper.com.au



At the core of member and 
employer experience are 
the services we offer and 
the people who are at the 
centre of those services. 
Each day members and employers are 
assisted by technology and a team of 
people who are experts in superannuation. 
Some highlights from the year include:

• Answered 53,000 calls with 82% of these 
answered within 30 seconds

• Allocated 146,859 contributions from 
employers for 514,089 member accounts

A big focus for this year was the continued 
enhancement of technology so that 
members and employers can interact 
with Prime Super in the way that works 
best for them. With so many people now 
preferring to use online tools to manage 
their finances, Prime Super has invested in 
a number of service enhancements to meet 
the expectations of members. Highlights 
include:

• Digital member card which enables 
member to keep their super fund details 
to provide to new employers when they 
change jobs. (1,858 downloaded)

• Mobile app for members to check their 
balances and transactions with Prime 
Super (1,190 downloaded)

• Online insurance claims where members 
can initiate and track the progress of their 
claims (12 claims lodged online)

• Launch of a new Investment option for 
members looking for income supplement 
over capital growth (number of members 
who have taken up the new option – 105)

• Launch of an outbound call centre so 
that we can proactively contact members 
about their super and income stream 
accounts (2,075 spoken to)

• Planning is a key part of success for 
operations and Prime Super is already 
looking at three major projects designed 
to make the member and employer 
experience smoother and improve the 
quality of our offering

• Green ID enabling online verification 
processes to be done in real time; but 
which also provide security for the 
member to know that their privacy has  
not been compromised

• Prime Super is moving from a monthly 
crediting rate method to a weekly 
crediting rate method which means that 
members will benefit from the most up to 
date calculation of their balance. Prime 
Super will calculate crediting rates weekly 
for each investment option

Operations  
report 

Financial planning  
report 

A key need for members 
is to have access to sound 
financial advice. The 
right advice at the right 
time will assist members 
with decisions in the 
accumulation, transition  
to and then retirement 
phases of their adult life. 

In addition, there has been much media 
attention of quality of financial advice in 
financial services so Prime Super has spent 
much time and diligence determining how 
it might be able to provide these service to 
members. 

The model that we chose enables a range of 
advice services to be provided to members 
depending on their requirements. Prime 
Super members have access to advice to 
assist them to manage their account and 
plan for retirement. They can call and discuss 
any queries they have. If the phone call is 
not sufficient to address their queries and 
they decide to meet with a financial planner, 
the first meeting is at no additional cost.

A Financial Planner can help them with a 
wide range of financial matters including 
ongoing retirement planning and achieving 
their financial goals. Financial Planners 
employed by Prime Super are authorised 

representatives of PGW Financial Services 
Pty Ltd (PGW) AFSL 384713, ABN 15 123 
835 441. PGW is responsible for personal 
financial advice provided by their authorised 
representatives.

There has been strong interest from 
members during the year as shown by these 
highlights:

• Full personal advice has been provided 
to members holding more than $73m in 
financial assets

• The fee structure is fair and reasonable
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113
Have provided  
personal advice to  
113 members 

53,000
calls answered with  
82% of these answered 
within 30 seconds

146,859
Allocated 146,859 
contributions from 
employers for 514,089 
member accounts

954
Spoke generally to 954 
members

$32.9M
funds under advice



Online claims
By moving the complete process online, 
claims should progress faster and reduce 
stress on the claimant. Now that Prime 
Super’s members can undertake the full 
process online from the secure Prime Super 
MemberOnline website, it is expected that 
the time to process and assess a claim could 
be reduced significantly.

Prime Super is delighted to be able to 
offer this service for our members and it 
was developed in conjunction with insurer 
CommInsure. A key benefit is that the 
claimant will be able to track the progress 
of their claim and quickly provide any extra 
information that is required to progress the 
claim.

Prime Super’s member services team will 
also continue to monitor all claims and assist 
members when required. Our members will 
have the best service possible and can be 
confident that they will be able to get an 
accurate update of the status of their claim 
at any time they choose.

To provide the full-service model for 
members, Prime Super has retained the 
traditional method of claims initiation and 
processing where appropriate. Members 
are not disadvantaged by the traditional 
process – they have the choice to choose 
the method they are most comfortable with.

CommInsure update
The Commonwealth Bank of Australia (CBA) 
has reached an agreement with AIA to sell 
The Colonial Mutual Life Assurance Society 
Limited (CommInsure), subject to securing 
all necessary regulatory approvals. The sale 
is expected to be complete by the end of 
2018. There will be no changes to members’ 
insurance arrangements as a result of this 
change in ownership. 

Key Insurance results for the year
• Fastest online claim processed  

– 30 minutes

• 97.81% of claims successful

• 4,272 members who have nominated 
beneficiaries

• 825 members who have made a binding 
beneficiary

• Objections and complaints to decline 
rates are very low

Insurance 
report 

Community engagement  

report

Delivering quality insurance 
products continues to 
be a major focus for 
Prime Super. This year 
we enhanced member 
experience with the launch 
of an online claims facility. 
We were also proud to 
launch a telephone-based 
claims facility. These 
services are designed to 
assist members to progress 
claims quickly and to be 
able to track their progress.

Developing Regional Leaders
Prime Super is a proud partner of the 
Australian Rural Leadership Foundation 
which has been supporting and cultivating 
leaders in rural, regional and remote 
Australia for over 26 years. 

Prime Super provides funding for an 
Australian Rural Leadership Program 
scholarship which allows an individual to 
participate and they are immersed in a 
series of unique experiences to develop 
their abilities as leaders. Studies focus 
on personal effectiveness, engagement, 
leadership thinking and ethics, with the aim 
to produce a network of capable leaders 
to advance the interests of their industries 
in their communities. Participants in the 
program can also choose to undertake a 
Graduate Certificate of Rural Leadership 
from James Cook University concurrently 
with the program.

Our Alumni
2015 – Sandra Glaister (Brisbane, QLD)

Sandra was the first Prime Super scholarship 
recipient and is a dedicated health care 
senior manager and educator. She is a 
registered nurse with a Masters in Business 
Administration and Dispute Resolution, 
a Bachelor of Education (Nursing) 
and certificates in education and dog 
behavioural training. Sandra has held several 
senior positions within the aged care sector 
in Queensland and is an active member of 
her local community. Sandra is currently the 
Group Manager of Operations at Aveo.

2016 – Edwina Sharrock (Tamworth, 
NSW)

Edwina lives in Tamworth and is a Registered 
Nurse and Midwife. Participating in the 
program has given Edwina the skills and 
confidence to completely change her career 
– Edwina is the CEO and Founder of Birth 
Beat – an online platform that combines 
convenience with the latest in childbirth 
education. Within six months of making Birth 
Beat her full-time job, Edwina has entered 
into a partnership with HCF, successfully 
caught a shark on the popular TV show 
Shark Tank and has recently been named as 
one of the AFR’s 100 Women of Influence 
for 2018.

2017 – Alex Dunn (Gympie, QLD)

Alex Dunn is a doctor based in Gympie, 
QLD. His current roles include providing 
primary, emergency and anaesthetic 
care to the Gympie community. He also 
works as a medical educator, training 
the next generation of rural doctors. He 
previously worked in Weipa and Cooktown 
on Cape York for the prior nine years. 
He is passionate about healthy equity 
and achieving the best outcomes for the 
communities he serves. 

2018 – Corrine Butler (Warwick, QLD)

Corinne is the Director of Tweak HR,  
Board Chair of Destination Southern 
Downs, Founder of Women of Warwick 
and Co-Founder of the Business Network 
of Warwick. She’s an active member of the 
Darling Downs business community and is 
passionate about helping rural and regional 
business owners build strong, successful and 
sustainable businesses. 

For more information about the ARLP visit 
rural-leaders.org.au.
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$28.1M
claims paid

426
 

members paid  
and/or supported
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Community engagement  

report (continued)
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Recognising Regional Achievers
Prime Super continues to recognise 
community achievers through our 
partnership with Awards Australia who run 
the Regional Achievement and Community 
Awards and Community Achievement 
Awards.

This long-standing partnership - now 
in its 6th year - allows us to recognise 
those contributing to the aged care and 
agricultural industries across regional 
Australia. We sponsor two awards in each 
state designed to recognise businesses who 
play an important role in their communities. 

All states – Prime Super Employer 
Excellence in Aged Care Award 
The Prime Super Employer Excellence in 
Aged Care Award recognises providers who 
have a strong focus on staff engagement, 
safety and wellbeing, training and 
providing staff with learning opportunities 
and development. It also recognises the 
provision of quality services for clients, 
patients and residents. 

Prime Super Agricultural 
Innovation Award 
Australian agricultural production and 
supply chain management has a long history 
of innovation to maximise efficiency, develop 
new products, and open new market 
opportunities. This is despite the challenges 
of climate, soil types and location. The 
Award showcases this spirit of innovation 
through the application of technology 
or process improvement to enhance 
production and increase efficiency which 
then helps to maximise returns, particularly 
where that value flows back to the primary 
producer. 

Western Australia & Tasmania 
– Prime Super Business 
Achievement Award
In regional and rural areas successful 
businesses are making important economic 
contributions. Creative business and 
commercial ventures provide opportunities 
for regional growth, productivity, leadership, 
training and employment. Businesses 
are continuing to realise their corporate 
vision and mission in areas such as 
product development, manufacturing and 
construction, agriculture, primary industry, 
e-commerce, wholesaling, exporting, 
retailing, trades and other professional 
services. This Award acknowledges and 
highlights the continued success and 
achievements of business leaders and 
businesses. 

For more information on the awards and 
to find out how you can nominate for next 
year’s awards, visit awardsaustralia.com
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Your Trustee 
Board
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The Trustee, Prime Super 
Pty Ltd, is responsible for 
managing the Fund. The 
Directors of the Trustee 
meet regularly to discuss 
management of the Fund 
and determine important 
policies and procedures. 
Directors receive fees 
and are reimbursed for 
travelling expenses for 
attending board and 
committee meetings.

Committees
Investment committee 
Gerard Parlevliet (Chair), Alan Bowman, Duncan Fraser, Martin Day

Audit, compliance & risk committee 
David Cooper (Chair), Liam O’Brien, Duncan Fraser, Jacqueline Kelly

Claims committee 
David Cooper (Chair), Liam O’Brien, Duncan Fraser

Remuneration committee 
All directors are members of this committee

One of our longest serving board members 
and Deputy Chair, Trevor Dixon retired from 
the Board on 22 June 2017 after 13 years. 
During his time as a board member, Trevor 
worked hard to ensure that Prime Super 
is well positioned to face the challenges 
and opportunities that the future brings. 
We would like to extend our thanks and 
appreciation to Trevor for his service to the 
Fund and we wish him all the best for the 
future.

The Trust Deed

The Fund is governed by a Trust Deed 
which, amongst other things, sets out the 
entitlements of members and obligations of 
the Trustee. 

Complying Fund

Prime Super is a complying superannuation 
fund for taxation purposes. All necessary 
returns and certificates have been lodged 
with APRA. Once the audit of Prime Super’s 
Financial Statements is complete, returns for 
the year to 30 June 2018 will also be lodged 
with APRA.

The Trustee is not aware of any matter which 
would cause the Fund to lose its complying 
status. No penalties under superannuation 
law have been imposed.

The Trustee has established a number of 
committees, as appointed by the Board, 
to assist in managing its functions and 
responsibilities. Directors sit on these 
committees. A list of all committees and 
committee members is listed below.

Participating employers are also entitled to 
establish a policy committee to consider the 
operation and performance of the Fund and 
communicate the views of members and 
employers to the Trustee. Policy committees 
must be made up of an equal number of 
member and employer representatives. 

At 30 June 2018 there were no policy 
committees.

Trustee Liability Insurance

The Trustee has liability insurance to protect 
it, and the Directors and Officers, against 
any losses arising as a result of a claim for a 
breach of their duty. 

Conflict of Interests

The Trustee has established procedures to 
ensure any conflict of interest in respect of 
the Directors is disclosed and appropriately 
dealt with.
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Board (continued)
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Board meeting attendance for the year ended 30 June 2018
Board 

Meetings
Investment 
Committee

Audit 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Director A B A B A B A B

Alan Bowman 
(Chairman)

6 6 6 6 6 0 1 1

David Cooper 6 6 6 0 6 6 1 1

Martin Day 6 6 5 6 6 0 1 1

Duncan Fraser 5 6 5 6 5 6 0 1

Jacqueline Kelly 6 6 4 0 6 6 1 1

Gerard Parlevliet^ 6 6 6 6 6 0 1 1

Liam O’Brien 5 6 5 0 5 6 1 1

* All board members are permitted to attend Committee meetings even if they are not a member of the Committee.

^ Appointed to the board on 22 June 2017.

A = Meetings attended    B = Eligible to attend

1. Alan Bowman

Chairman and Independent Director

Alan has had a long-standing career in 
public service and the private sector with 
over 40 years’ experience consulting to 
both State and Federal Government and 
other associations within the agricultural 
industry. Alan also has extensive knowledge 
and experience within the insurance sector, 
both nationally and internationally, through 
his role as an advisor to leading insurers 
and underwriters. Alan’s deep involvement 
with industry associations such as the 
Victorian Farmers Federation has seen him 
advise at State and Federal levels in the 
areas of agriculture, industrial relations and 
superannuation. Alan has also held various 
board roles over the years within agricultural 
and development organisations, including 
the Australian Pacific Dairy Company 
Limited and the International Fibre Centre. 

Appointed to the Board: 26 January 2001 

(appointed Chairman 1 January 2011)

2. David Cooper
Independent Director

David has had a distinguished career in the 
legal industry, having been a partner of the 
legal firm Herbert Smith Freehills for more 
than 25 years before retiring from the firm 
in December 2015. David practises in the 
area of financial services law and is a leading 
expert in the areas of superannuation and 
life insurance law.

David is widely regarded as one of 
Australia’s best superannuation lawyers, 
having been voted Superannuation Lawyer 
of the Year (Sydney) in the 2012 'Best 
Lawyers' survey and was considered as an 
expert by Who’s Who Legal in the area 
of ‘Pensions and Benefits’ in their annual 

market research published in 'Who’s Who 
Legal: Labour, Employment & Benefits' in 
each of July 2016 and July 2017.

David holds a Bachelor of Commerce 
(Accounting and Financial Management) 
and a Bachelor of Laws from the University 
of New South Wales.

Appointed to the Board: 1 July 2009

3. Gerard Parlevliet
Independent Director

Before joining Prime Super, Gerard spent 
over 18 years working in the investment 
management and superannuation industry 
as a senior executive of Commonwealth 
Bank Group Super (the $10 billion staff 
fund for employees of the Commonwealth 
Bank) leading to in his appointment as Chief 
Investment Officer for 7 years before he 
retired from the fund in April 2017.

Gerard has extensive expertise and 
knowledge in superannuation and is 
a member of ASFA’s NSW Executive 
Committee and ASFA’s Economics and 
Investment Policy Council.

In 2013, Gerard was awarded a National 
Achievement Award as Chief Investment 
Officer of the Year and in 2017, was awarded 
an Industry Service Award from Selecting 
Super. Gerard is also a director of La Trobe 
Financial Asset Management Ltd.

Gerard holds a Bachelor of Business, 
Diploma of Superannuation Management, 
Diploma of Financial Planning and is 
a Certified Practicing Accountant and 
a Trustee Fellow of the Association of 
Superannuation Funds of Australia (ASFA).

Appointed to the Board: 22 June 2017

4. Duncan Fraser
NFF Representative Director

Duncan is a passionate advocate and 
representative of the agricultural community 
having split his career between his farm in 
Hay in NSW and his leadership positions 
with many national and state-based farming 
organisations, including the New South 
Wales Farmers Association (NSWFA), 
Wool Producers Australia and the National 
Farmers Federation (NFF).

From 1991 to 2007 Duncan held many 
executive positions within the NSWFA, 
including places on the general council and 
committees for wool, sheep meat, meat and 
livestock, education, workplace relations and 
conservation and resources management. 
He was the Chair of Farmsafe NSW from 
1999 to 2000 and a Vice President of the 
NSW Farmers’ Association from 2001 to 
2003.

Duncan became the Vice-President of the 
NFF in 2010 and President in 2013, after 
more than 10 years as the NFF Industrial 
Committee’s Chairman. All the while, he was 
running his pastoral sheep and irrigated rice 
property in the Riverina.  

In 2015, Duncan was recognised with 
Member of the Order of Australia (AM) 
honours for his significant service to 
primary industry, particularly agriculture, to 
professional associations and to education 
and training. 

With his extensive experience in sheep 
meat and wool production, Duncan is also 
the past Chair of the Sheep Industry Co-
operative Research Centre and the National 
Wild Dog Action Plan Implementation 
Committee. He is also involved with the 
local community having been a Governor 
on the Winifred West Schools Board and is 

a member of the Tocal Agricultural College 
Advisory Council. Duncan is currently a 
Trustee of the Australian Farmers’ Fighting 
Fund and a Director of the Shear Outback 
Museum.  

Duncan holds a Bachelor of Agricultural 
Economics from the University of New 
England.

Appointed to the board: 25 August 2010

5. Martin Day
Independent Director

Martin has held significant executive 
leadership roles with 20 years’ experience in 
the health and aged care industry including 
his role as the former national CEO of St 
Vincent's Health Australia Private Hospitals 
and, prior to that, as a senior executive 
manager at Mayne Health in Victoria, 
Western Australia and Tasmania.

Martin has had an extensive board career 
through his directorships on the boards of 
Mercy Health Australia and its associated 
companies, and the boards of Cabrini 
Health Ltd, Southern Cross Care (Vic) and 
Green Acres Golf Club Ltd.

Martin holds a MBA from Deakin University 
and is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

Appointed to the Board: 28 October 2014

6. Jacqueline Kelly
Independent Director

Jacqueline has held the role of CEO at 
Lutheran Community Care in Queensland 
for more than nine years and has extensive 
experience in the public, private and not-
for-profit sectors across a range of industries 
including health and aged care.

A strong advocate for leadership 
development she has co-authored a number 
of papers on leadership and takes an active 
role in supporting and mentoring women 
in leadership positions. Jacqueline is also 
a trustee of the Committee for Economic 
Development of Australia.

Jacqueline holds a Masters of Business 
Administration and a Bachelor of Arts and 
has completed strategy and governance 
programs with the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and Harvard.

Appointed to the Board: 24 February 2015

7. Liam O’Brien
AWU Representative Director

Liam has extensive union experience in 
industrial relations and superannuation 
developed through leadership positions 
with the Australian Workers Union (AWU). 

Liam has worked with the AWU since 2003 
during which time he has held several 
senior positions including his current role 
as the Victorian Branch Assistant Secretary, 
and previous roles as the National 
Organiser responsible for the aluminium, 
glass and construction industries, the 
Victorian Vice-President and as the 
National Vice-President in 2013.

Appointed to the board: 27 April 2016
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Prime Super’s management 
team has extensive 
experience in all aspects  
of superannuation
     

1. Lachlan Baird
Chief Executive Officer

Lachlan has been involved in the 
superannuation industry for over 20 years 
gaining experience in many and varying 
aspects of the industry. He began his career 
as an Auditor and subsequently managed 
the outsourced fund accounting function 
of a major super administrator. Lachlan 
also held a senior role in a large industry 
superannuation fund before taking on the 
role of CEO of Prime Super in 2005.

Lachlan holds a Bachelor of Chemical 
Engineering, a Bachelor of Commerce, and 
is a Chartered Accountant.

2. Stephen Pratt
General Manager. Operations

Stephen has worked in the finance industry 
for over 30 years and has held senior 
management positions in superannuation, 
retail banking, internal audit, human 
resource management and planning.

He was appointed General Manager, 
Operations at Prime Super in January 2008.

Stephen holds a Bachelor of Commerce 
and Masters in Business Administration, and 
is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors. 

3. Wendy Shang
General Counsel and  
Assistant Company Secretary

Wendy has had over 13 years’ experience 
working as a senior legal practitioner in 
both private practice and in-house and 
has acted for clients within the areas of 
superannuation, corporate and commercial, 
financial services and litigation.

She joined Prime Super in 2009 and her 
role as General Counsel and Assistant 
Company Secretary involves overseeing the 
legal, governance and company secretarial 
functions within Prime Super.

Wendy holds a Bachelor of Laws (Hons), a 
Bachelor of Commerce and a Certificate in 
Governance Practice (Governance Institute 
of Australia).

4. Remo Memmolo
Chief Financial Officer

Remo joined Prime Super in 2015 working 
on a range of financial and strategic 
initiatives. With over 30 years financial 
services experience, Remo has delivered 
strong results and improved efficiency, whilst 
focusing on service excellence. 

During the course of his career, Remo has 
lead complex and diverse operations. He 
has extensive experience in investments, 
relationship management, change 
management, financial budgeting and 
reporting and managing director positions.

Prior to joining Prime Super, Remo worked 
with and contributed to the growth of 
various organisations including the Norwich 
Group, AXA Australia, Australian Unity 
Investments, Merrill Lynch Investment 
Managers and BlackRock Investment 

Management

Management in the capacity of Managing 
Director – Business Operations. Remo is an 
avid sports fan and is a loyal supporter of 

the Richmond Tigers.

5. Jane Kang
General Manager, Investments

Jane joined Prime Super in November 2015. 
She has over 25 years’ experience in the 
financial services industry. Jane comes with 
a strong background in accounting and 
solid understanding of the superannuation 
industry.

With her experience in investments and 
investment operations Jane flawlessly 
manages expectations and relationships 
with Prime Super’s fund managers, 
investment consultants and custodians. 
Having managed investment operations 
teams through significant growth and 
changes, Jane understands and supports the 
development of collaborative relationships 
at all levels within the organisation.

Jane holds a Bachelor of Economics and a 
Graduate Diploma of Applied Finance and 
Investments.

6. Ann Wong
General Manager, Risk and Compliance

Ann joined Prime Super in 2016 as the 
General Manager, Risk and Compliance. She 
brings with her 28 years of experience in the 
financial services industry, particularly in the 
compliance and risk arena.

She and her team are responsible for 
maintaining a robust risk and compliance 
framework to protect and support the 
organisation in achieving its objectives. 

Ann holds a Bachelor of Economics and a 
Graduate Diploma of Financial Planning. 
She is also a Certified Financial Planner.

7. Mark Ashburn
General Manager, Distribution

Mark joined the Prime Super team in 
September 2016 as General Manager 
Distribution. He is responsible for 
supporting our regional manager team who 
represent our brand throughout Australia 
and delivery of efficient and effective 
distribution strategies for the fund.

Mark has more than 30 years’ experience 
in financial services and has held executive 
roles in sales and operations for both 
large and medium size organisations. His 
superannuation experience includes more 
than 5 years in a leadership role with an 
industry super fund complemented by a role 
with global professional services firm EY in 
the Wealth and Asset Management practice.

Mark is passionate about providing the 
members of Prime Super with the best 
retirement outcome they can expect from 
their lifetime of work. In his free time, Mark is 
a keen cyclist and loves water skiing.

8. Rachael Powell
Marketing and Communications Manager

Rachael has more than 10 years marketing 
and communications experience in the 
financial services industry. Her experience 
includes direct marketing, communications, 
digital, brand and publications.

She joined Prime Super in 2009 as the 
Marketing and Communications Manager 
and is responsible for overseeing all of 
the Fund’s marketing and communication 
activities.

Rachael holds a Bachelor of Arts (Media and 
Communications) and is passionate about 
helping members better understand their 
superannuation benefits so they can get 
the best retirement outcome. Rachael loves 
to travel and looks forward to seeing much 
more of the world.
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Remuneration
As an industry super fund, Prime Super is run only to benefit members. The Fund's 
remuneration practices are set out in a Remuneration Policy maintained by the Board.

Director remuneration
The Prime Super Board is responsible for reviewing and setting Directors’ remuneration.

Remuneration is set at a level that recognises the responsibilities of Directors, acknowledges 
the expectations of Directors at law, is set at a level that is comparative to market, and 
encompasses all activities of Directors.

Directors are separately remunerated for additional activities they undertake on behalf of the 
Board, outside their normal duties. Remuneration for such activities is only payable where the 
Chair/Board has approved of those activities.

The Chair and Deputy Chair receive a higher level of remuneration as a reflection of the 
increased workload and responsibility associated with those roles.

Prime Super Board of Directors

Name Position held
Date appointed  
to Board

Date appointed  
to role Date ceased

Alan Bowman Chair 26 January 2001 1 January 2011

David Cooper Director 1 July 2009

Martin Day Director 28 October 2014

Trevor Dixon Deputy Chair 5 April 2004 28 August 2013 22 June 2017

Duncan Fraser Director 25 August 2010

Jacqueline Kelly Director 24 February 2015

Liam O’Brien Director 27 April 2016

Gerard Parlevliet Director 22 June 2017

Director 
Remuneration  

Director remuneration for the financial year 2018 is set out in the following table:

Director remuneration

Director

Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits

Termination 
payments 

$
TOTAL 

$

Cash 
salary1 

$

Additional 
remuneration 

$

Other 
short-term 

compensation 
$

Non-
monetary 

benefits 
$

Pension and 
superannuation 

benefits 
$

Other  
post- 

employment 
benefits 

$

Alan Bowman

2018 91,324 0 0 3,267 8,676 0 0 103,267

2017 79,569 0 0 0 7,559 0 0 87,128

David Cooper

2018 68,493 10,313 0 0 7,487 0 0 86,293

2017 61,178 4,311 0 0 6,222 0 0 71,711

Martin Day

2018 59,361 0 0 0 5,639 0 0 65,000

2017 55,616 0 0 0 5,284 0 0 60,900

Trevor Dixon2

2018 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2017 61,178 0 0 0 5,812 0 0 66,990

Duncan Fraser

2018 59,361 6,047 0 2,746 6,214 0 0 74,368

2017 55,616 0 0 0 5,284 0 0 60,900

Liam O’Brien3

2018 66,990 0 0 0 0 0 0 66,990

2017 60,900 0 0 0 0 0 0 60,900

Jacqueline Kelly

2018 59,361 0 0 0 5,639 0 0 65,000

2017 55,616 0 0 0 5,284 0 0 60,900

Gerard Parlevliet

2018 70,115 0 0 0 6,601 0 0 76,776

2017 1,622 0 0 0 154 0 0 1,776

1 Includes any salary sacrifice items.

2 Trevor Dixon ceased being a Director on 22 June 2017.

3  Of the remuneration payable to Mr O’Brien, 100% is paid to his employer The Australian Workers Union.   
Please note: No share-based remuneration or long-term benefits are paid or payable to Directors.
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To achieve its goals in relation to executive 
staff, the Remuneration Policy is designed to:

• encourage executives to perform to their 
fullest capacity;

• be business focused and flexible;

• be competitive and cost effective in each 
relevant employment market; and

• be internally consistent.

Executive remuneration may incorporate 
fixed and variable performance elements 
with both a short-term and long-term focus.

In setting any performance-based 
component of remuneration, the Prime 
Super Board ensures that the performance-
based component supports:

• protecting the interests, and meeting the 
reasonable expectations of members;

• the long-term soundness of the Fund 
Trustee and the Fund; and

• the risk management framework of the 
Fund Trustee.

Chief Executive Officer 
remuneration
The Prime Super Board is responsible for 
reviewing and setting the level and structure 
of remuneration of the Chief Executive 
Officer, including the assessment of any 
annual performance bonus to be awarded.

The Chief Executive Officer’s remuneration 
has due regard to industry practice and 
comparative information; it is set at a level 
and is structured to attract, motivate, reward 
and retain good performer to drive the Fund 
efficiently.

Other Executives remuneration
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for 
reviewing and setting the level and structure 
of remuneration of the other Executives.

Other Executives' remuneration has due 
regard to industry practice, comparative 
information and the financial constraints 
of the business; it is set at a level and is 
structured to attract, motivate, reward and 
retain good performer to drive the Fund 
efficiently.

The Chief Executive Officer undertakes an 
annual review of the performance of the 
other Executives, including the assessment 
of any annual performance bonus to be 
awarded.

Prime Super Executives

Name Position help
Date appointed 
to role

Lachlan Baird Chief Executive Officer 21 March 2005

Stephen Pratt General Manager - Operations 7 January 2008

Wendy Shang General Counsel & Assistant Company Secretary 29 June 2009

Remo Memmolo Chief Financial Officer 26 February 2015

Jane Kang General Manager - Investments 4 November 2015

Ann Wong General Manager – Risk & Compliance 3 October 2016

Executive 
Remuneration  

Executive remuneration for the financial year 2018 is set out in the following table:

Executive remuneration

Executive 
officers

Short-term benefits Post-employment benefits

Termination 
payments 

$
TOTAL 

$

Cash salary 
& short-term 

compensated 
absences1 

$

Short-
term cash 
and other 

bonuses 
$

Non-
monetary 
benefits6 

$

Other 
short-term 
employee 

benefits 
$

Pension 
& super-

annuation 
benefits 

$

Other post- 
employment 

benefits 
$

Lachlan Baird

2018 427,601 21,188 9,333 0 25,000 0 0 483,122

2017 380,044 20,875 9,399 36,4015 35,000 0 0 481,719

Stephen Pratt

2018 246,431 11,941 12,223 0 24,388 0 0 294,983

2017 241,385 17,378 12,000 0 24,338 0 0 295,101

Remo Memmolo3

2018 196,027 17,352 0 0 20,188 0 0 233,567

2017 173,749 15,982 0 0 18,002 0 0 207,733

Wendy Shang2

2018 109,427 7,032 244 10,983 127,686

2017 80,051 13,684 0 0 8,871 0 0 102,606

Ann Wong3

2018 234,018 15,982 0 0 23,750 0 0 273,750

2017 151,914 0 0 0 14,432 0 0 166,346

Jane Kang3 & 4

2018 158,927 14,977 1,215 0 16,521 0 0 191,640

2017 151,410 9,742 720 0 14,968 0 0 176,840

1 Includes any salary sacrifice superannuation items.

2 Ms Shang is employed to work three days per week; Ms Shang ceased being a Responsible Officer 22 June 2017

3 Ms Wong, Ms Kang and Mr Memmolo became Responsible Officers 22 June 2017

4 Ms Kang is employed to work 4 days per week

5  Prior year salary adjustment

6  Includes GST where applied

Please note: No share-based remuneration is paid or payable to Executives.
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The net movements in annual leave and long service leave accruals for Executive staff are  
set out in the following table:

Executive net movement in annual leave and long service leave 
accruals

Executive officer

Short-term benefits Long-term benefits

Cash salary and short term 
compensation1 

$

Other long-term employee 
benefits2 

$

Lachlan Baird

2018 34,935 17,607

2017 -5,850 13,715

Stephen Pratt

2018 11,890 5,024

2017 5,174 4,986

Wendy Shang

2018 4,739 2,000

2017 5,366 7,609

Ann Wong

2018 21,495 0

2017 13,731 0

Jane Kang

2018 15,355 0

2017 2,752 0

Remo Memmolo

2018 17,559 0

2017 15,651 0

1  Comprises the net movement in annual leave accruals, including any leave loading applicable, determined in accordance 
with AASB 119 Employee Benefits.

2 Comprises the net movement in long service leave accruals determined in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits.

Performance-based components of Executive remuneration are set out in the following table:

Executive performance-based components of remuneration

Executive 
officers Date granted

Nature of 
compensation 
granted Service & performance criteria

% that was paid/
vested in the 
financial year

% that was 
forfeited in the 

financial year

Lachlan Baird 31 August 2017 Cash bonus Crediting Rates out-performing the 
average return for Superannuation  
Funds for the financial year.

100% 0%

Stephen Pratt 22 June 2017 Cash bonus Out-performance when measured 
against pre-agreed Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs include 
measures relating to the Fund and the 
individual, and include financial, people, 
member, strategy and risk measures.

50% 50%

Wendy Shang 22 June 2017 Cash bonus Out-performance when measured 
against pre-agreed Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs include 
measures relating to the Fund and the 
individual, and include financial, people, 
member, strategy and risk measures.

100% 0%

Ann Wong 22 June 2017 Cash bonus Out-performance when measured 
against pre-agreed Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs include 
measures relating to the Fund and the 
individual, and include financial, people, 
member, strategy and risk measures.

75% 25%

Jane Kang 22 June 2017 Cash bonus Out-performance when measured 
against pre-agreed Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs include 
measures relating to the Fund and the 
individual, and include financial, people, 
member, strategy and risk measures.

100% 0%

Remo 
Memmolo

22 June 2017 Cash bonus Out-performance when measured 
against pre-agreed Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs include 
measures relating to the Fund and the 
individual, and include financial, people, 
member, strategy and risk measures.

100% 0%

Executive 
Remuneration (continued) 
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Finance  
report

Prime Super continues  
to operate in a sound 
financial position.

While facing a challenging external 
environment, Prime Super has delivered our 
strategic plans for the year, while achieving 
a sound financial result that is in line with 
budget forecasts. Notable results detailed 
in the attached Financial Statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2018 and the 
accompanying Notes to the Financial 
Statements include:

• an increase in Total Assets from  
$3.5 Billion to over $3.9 Billion for the 
financial year ending 30 June 2018;

• continued to maintain targeted levels of 
Administration Reserve and Operational 
Risk Reserves;

• sustained positive cash flows at the end of 
the financial period.

Efficient and cost effective processes, 
coupled with robust expenditure practises, 
have enabled Prime Super to keep 
administration and operating expenses in 
check – achieved in a complex environment 
with increased regulatory requirements. 
Prime Super remains confident about its 
ability to continue to deliver sound financial 
results to our members. 

Compliance statement: 

Audited Financial Statements and Notes 
to the Financial Statements as at 30 June 
2018 are contained at pages 50 to 83 of this 
Annual Report. They can also be found at 
Prime Super’s website at primesuper.com.au. 
Financial Statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and other relevant requirements.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2018

Note
2018 

$'000
2017 
$'000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 13 12,161 7,979 

Receivables 5 648 666 

Investments

 Australian Shares 4 857,241 788,321 

 International Shares 4 835,970 678,747 

 Emerging Markets 4 220,458 208,998 

 Cash 539,215 517,815 

 Australian Fixed Interest 4 117,716 103,329 

 International Fixed Interest 4 262,565 232,883 

 Infrastructure 4 404,799 360,897 

 Property 4 188,938 158,501 

 Credit Opportunities 4 329,490 310,477 

 Private Equity 4 37,071 46,577 

 Absolute Return Strategies 4 156,088 128,842 

 Derivatives 4 (32,812) 2,311 

Property, plant and equipment 398 442 

Income tax receivable 2,155  10,045 

Total assets 3,932,101 3,556,830 

Liabilities

Payables 6 (6,671) (6,558)

Deferred tax liabilities 10 (59,183) (39,738)

Total liabilities excluding member benefits (65,854) (46,296)

Net assets available for member benefits 3,866,247 3,510,534 

Member benefits

Allocated to members (3,840,140) (3,465,743)

Unallocated to members (6,582) (5,930)

Total member liabilities 3 (3,846,722) (3,471,673)

Net assets 19,525 38,861 

Equity

Administration reserve 9 (5,929) (25,296)

Investment reserve 9 (3,766) (4,874)

Operational risk reserve 9 (9,830) (8,691)

Total equity (19,525) (38,861)

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Income Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Note
2018  

$'000
2017  

$'000

Superannuation activities

Interest 55 71 

Dividend revenue 167,640 238,920 

Changes in assets measured at fair value 7 186,331 147,175 

Other income 4,356 4,692 

Total superannuation activities income 358,382 390,858 

Investment expenses (22,369) (15,830)

Administration expenses (7,722) (6,748)

Operating expenses 11 (12,634) (10,851)

Total expenses (42,725) (33,429)

Net result from superannuation activities 315,657 357,429 

Profit from operating activities 315,657 357,429 

Less: Net benefits allocated to members' accounts (299,911) (339,506)

Profit/(loss) before income tax 15,746 17,923 

Income tax expense/(benefit) 10 35,082 24,975 

Profit after income tax (19,336) (7,052)

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Member Benefits
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Note
2018 

$'000
2017 
$'000

Opening balance of member benefits 3,471,673 3,044,499 

Contributions:

Employer 236,265 233,201 

Member 44,119 50,064 

Transfer from other superannuation plans 56,859 61,689 

Government co-contributions 398 645 

Income tax on contributions (30,248) (27,925)

Net after tax contributions 307,393 317,674 

Benefits to members/beneficiaries (228,401) (222,878)

Insurance premiums charged to members' accounts (27,920) (29,779)

Death and disability insurance benefits credited to members' accounts 24,066 22,651 

Benefits allocated to members' accounts, comprising:

 Net investment income 326,348 364,776 

 Administration fees (26,437) (25,270)

Closing balance of member benefits 3,846,722 3,471,673

The above Statement of Changes in Member Benefits should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Changes in Reserves
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Administration 
reserve 

$'000

Investment 
reserve 

$'000

Operational 
risk reserve 

$'000
Total equity 

$'000

Opening balance as at 1 July 2017 25,296 4,874 8,691 38,861 

Net transfers to/from reserves (474)  -    474  -   

Profit/(loss) (18,893) (1,108) 665 (19,336)

Closing balance as at 30 June 2018 5,929 3,766 9,830 19,525 

Administration 
reserve 

$'000

Investment 
reserve 

$'000

Operational 
risk reserve 

$'000
Total equity 

$'000

Opening balance as at 1 July 2016  18,502 19,617 7,792 45,911 

Net transfers to/from reserves (49)  -   49  -   

Profit/(loss) 6,843 (14,743) 850 (7,050)

Closing balance as at 30 June 2017 25,296 4,874 8,691 38,861

The above Statement of Changes in Reserves should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2018

5555

Note
2018  

$'000
2017  
$'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest received 61 73 

Insurance proceeds 24,066 22,651 

Other general administration expenses (19,882) (17,971)

Other income 180  124 

Insurance premiums (24,026) (27,335)

Investment expenses (22,332) (15,601)

Income tax paid (7,259) (18,661)

Net cash outflows from operating activities 13 (49,192) (56,720)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investments (212,650) (692,951)

Proceeds from sale of investment 187,580 654,380 

Purchase of fixed assets (59) (128)

Net cash outflows from investing activities (25,129) (38,699)

Cash flows from financing activities

Employer contributions 236,263 233,201 

Member contributions 44,119 50,064 

Transfers from other superannuation plans received 56,899 61,607 

Government co-contributions received 398 645 

Benefits paid to members (228,928) (223,492)

Income tax paid on contributions received (30,248) (27,925)

Net cash inflows from financing activities 78,503 94,100 

Net increase/decrease in cash 4,182 (1,319)

Cash at the beginning of the financial period 7,979 9,298 

Cash at the end of the financial period 13 12,161 7,979

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

1. Operation of the Fund
Prime Super is a public offer defined 
contribution fund constituted by the 
Trust Deed dated 16 November 1993 (as 
amended). The Fund is domiciled in Victoria, 
Australia. Its registered address is Level 
10, 455 Bourke Street Melbourne Victoria 
3000. The Fund is operated for the purpose 
of providing its members superannuation 
benefits on retirement.

The Fund is a defined contribution fund 
whereby contributions of the employers and 
the employees are made in accordance with 
the terms of the Trust Deed. The members’ 
accounts are credited or debited each year 
with contributions and their proportionate 
share of the net investment income, 
expenses and income tax expense of the 
Fund.

The trustee of the Fund is Prime Super 
Pty Ltd ('the Trustee') and it is the 
holder of a public offer class Registrable 
Superannuation Entity Licence (licence no 
L0000277). In accordance with amendments 
to the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) 
Act 1993 the Fund was registered with the 
Australian Prudential Regulation Authority. 
The fund was granted a MySuper licence on 
12 April 2013.

2.  Summary of significant 
accounting policies

The significant accounting policies have 
been consistently applied in the current 
financial year and the comparative period, 
unless otherwise stated. Where necessary, 
comparative information has been re-
presented to be consistent with current 
period disclosures.

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are a general 
purpose financial report which has been 
prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board, the 
Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 
1993 and regulations and the provisions of 
the Trust Deed.

The financials are presented in Australian 
Dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest $'000 except where otherwise 
indicated.

The Fund is a not-for-profit entity for the 
purpose of preparing financial statements.

The financial statements were approved by 
the Board of Directors of the trustee, Prime 
Super Pty Ltd on 25 September 2018.

(b)  New accounting standards and 
interpretations

The Fund applied for the first time certain 
standards and amendments which are 
effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 July 2017. The nature of each 
standard and/or amendment is described 
below. The adoption of this standard and 
amendment has not had any significant 
financial impact on the financial statements.

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the 
Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality

AASB 2015-3 completed the withdrawal 
of references to AASB 1031 Materiality in 
all Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations, allowing AASB 1031 to be 
effectively withdrawn. The adoption of  
AASB 2015-3 did not have any impact on 
the fund for the current period or any prior 
periods and will not impact any future 
periods. There were no other new or 
amended standards and interpretations  
that became effective for the first time for 
the reporting period that were relevant to 
the fund.

Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
issued but not yet effective  

Certain Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations have recently been 
issued or amended but are not yet effective 
and have not been adopted by the Fund  
for the annual reporting period ended  
30 June 2018. The impact of these standards 
and interpretations has been assessed and 
to the extent applicable to the Fund are 
outlined in the table below. Standards and 
interpretations that are not expected to 
have a material impact on the Fund have not 
been included.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) New accounting standards and interpretations (continued)

Accounting Standard and Nature

Application 
Date of  

Standard

Application  
Date for  

Fund

AASB 9/IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 01-Jan-18 01-Jul-18

AASB 9 brings together the classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting phases of 
the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement is expected to be effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2018. Also, the IASB has addressed the key concern that arose as a result of the financial crisis that 
the incurred loss model in IAS 39 contributed to the delayed recognition of credit losses, by issuing the new 
impairment requirements that are based on a more forward-looking expected credit loss model.

The Fund expects that this standard will have minimal impact on the financial statements of the Fund and 
the Trustee.

AASB 15 Revenue Recognition

AASB 15 replaces the existing revenue recognition standards AASB 111 Construction Contracts, AASB 
118 Revenue and related Interpretations. AASB 15 incorporates the requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and developed 
jointly with the US Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB).

AASB 15 specifies the accounting treatment for revenue arising from contracts with customers (except 
for contracts within the scope of other accounting standards such as leases or financial instruments).The 
core principle of AASB 15 is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or 
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled 
in exchange for those goods or services. An entity recognises revenue in accordance with that core principle 
by applying the following steps:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The Trustee and the Fund are assessing all revenue streams to ensure that revenue is recognised in 
accordance with the requirements of AASB 15.

AASB 15 provides two methods for applying the standard upon transition:

 1. Retrospective under AASB 108.

 2. Retrospective with cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised at date of initial 
application in accordance with requirements as set out in paragraphs C7-C8 of the standard.

This is expected to have a minimal impact on the financial statements of the Fund and the Trustee.

01-Jan-18 01-Jul-18

Accounting Standard and Nature

Application 
Date of  

Standard

Application  
Date for  

Fund

AASB 16 Leases 01-Jul-19 01-Jul-19

AASB 16 requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on balance sheet model in a similar way to 
finance leases under AASB 117 Leases.

The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets  
(e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less).

At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments  
(i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term 
(i.e., the right-of-use asset).

Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the 
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.

Lessees will be required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events  
(e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or 
rate used to determine those payments).

The lessee will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment 
to the right-of-use asset.

Lessor accounting is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under AASB 117.

Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in AASB 117 and 
distinguish between two types of leases: operating and finance leases.

The Fund expects that this standard will have minimal impact on the financial statements of the Fund  
and the Trustee.

 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) New accounting standards and interpretations (continued)
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2. Summary of significant 
accounting policies (continued)
(c) Financial assets and liabilities

Classification

The Fund classifies its financial assets and 
financial liabilities into the categories below 
in accordance with AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Financial assets and liabilities held for 
trading

These assets are acquired principally 
for the purpose of generating a profit 
from short-term fluctuation in price. All 
derivatives are classified as held for trading. 
Derivative financial instruments entered 
into by the Fund do not meet the hedge 
accounting criteria as defined by AASB 
139. Consequently hedge accounting is not 
applied by the Fund.

Financial instruments designated at fair 
value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition 

These financial assets are designated on 
the basis that they are part of a group of 
financial assets which are managed and have 
their performance evaluated on a fair value 
basis in accordance with risk management 
and investment strategies of the Fund.

Receivables

Receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. The 
Fund includes in this category short-term 
receivables.

Other financial liabilities

This category includes all financial liabilities, 
other than those classified at fair value 
through profit or loss. Other financial 
liabilities are measured at their nominal 
amounts. Amounts are generally settled 
within 30 days of being recognised as 
other financial liabilities. Given the short-

term nature of other financial liabilities, the 
nominal amount approximates fair value.

Recognition

The Fund recognises a financial asset or 
financial liability when, and only when, 
it becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time 
frame generally established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace are recognised 
on the trade date, i.e. the date that the Fund 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a 
part of a financial asset or part of a group 
of similar financial assets) is derecognised 
where:

i. The rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset have expired; or

ii. The Fund has transferred its rights to 
receive cash flows from the asset or has 
assumed an obligation to pay the received 
cash flows in full without material delay 
to a third party under a 'pass-through' 
arrangement; and

iii. Either (a) the Fund has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) the Fund has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.

The Fund derecognises a financial liability 
when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Initial measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss are recorded 
in the statement of financial position at 
fair value. All transaction costs for such 
instruments are recognised directly in the 
income statement.

Receivables and financial liabilities (other 
than those classified at fair value through 
profit or loss) are measured initially at their 
fair value plus any directly attributable 
incremental costs of acquisition or issue.

For financial assets and liabilities where 
the fair value at initial recognition does 
not equal the transaction price, the Fund 
recognises the difference in the income 
statement, unless specified otherwise.

Subsequent measurement

After initial measurement, the Fund 
measures investments and derivatives 
at fair value through profit or loss. 
Subsequent changes in the fair value of 
those investments are recorded as 'changes 
in assets measured at fair value' through 
the income statement. Interest earned is 
recorded in 'interest revenue' according to 
the terms of the contract. Dividend revenue 
is recorded in 'dividend revenue'.

(d) Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received 
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement is based on 
the presumption that the transaction to sell 
the asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either:

• In the principal market for the asset or 
liability, or

• In the absence of a principal market, in 
the most advantageous market for the 
asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous 
market must be accessible by the Fund.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is 
measured using the assumptions that 
market participants would use when pricing 
the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best 
interest.

2. Summary of significant 
accounting policies (continued)
(d) Fair value measurement (continued)

The Fund uses valuation techniques that 
are appropriate in the circumstances and 
for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximising the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value 
is measured or disclosed in the financial 
statements are categorised within the fair 
value hierarchy. Refer to Note 4.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the 
statement of financial position comprise 
cash at bank and in hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three 
months or less, which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purposes of the statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of 
cash and short-term deposits as defined 
above.

(f) Receivables and payables

Receivables are carried at nominal amounts 
which approximate their fair value. 
Receivables are normally settled within 30 
days.

(g) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the Fund and the revenue can be 
reliably measured, regardless of when the 
payment is received. Revenue is measured 
at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, taking into account 
contractually defined terms of payment 
and excluding taxes or duty. The specific 
recognition criteria described below must 
also be met before revenue is recognised:

Changes in assets measured at fair value

Changes in the fair value of investments and 
derivatives are calculated as the difference 
between the fair value at sale, or at balance 
date, and the fair value at the previous 
valuation point. All changes are recognised 
in the income statement.

Interest

Interest revenue on cash and other financial 
assets carried at fair value is recorded 
according to the terms of the contract and is 
recognised in the income statement.

Dividends and distributions

Dividend and distribution revenue is 
recognised when the Fund's right to 
receive payment is established. Revenue 
is presented gross of any non-recoverable 
withholding taxes, which are disclosed 
separately as a tax expense in the income 
statement.

(h) Income tax

The Fund is a complying superannuation 
fund for the purposes of the provisions 
of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 
Accordingly the concessional tax rate of 
15% has been applied to the Fund's taxable 
income.

Income tax in the income statement for the 
year comprises current and deferred tax.

Current tax assets and liabilities are 
measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities.

The tax rates and tax laws used to compute 
the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance date.

Deferred tax is provided on all temporary 
differences at the balance date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences except:

• Where the deferred tax liability arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss.

• When the taxable temporary difference 
is associated with investments in 
subsidiaries, associates or interests in 
joint ventures, and the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference can 
be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences, carry-
forward of unused tax assets and unused tax 
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, and the 
carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• Where the deferred tax asset relating to 
the deductible temporary differences 
arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor the taxable profit 
or loss.

• In respect of deductible temporary 
differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries, associates or interests in 
joint ventures in which case a deferred 
tax asset is only recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that the temporary 
difference will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary difference 
can be utilised.
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2. Summary of significant 
accounting policies (continued) 

(h) Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at each balance date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are 
reassessed at each balance date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profit will allow 
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply to the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based 
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities are offset only if a legally 
enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and 
the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate 
to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.

(i) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of GST, 
except:

• When the GST incurred on a sale or 
purchase of assets or services is not 
payable to or recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case the GST 
is recognised as part of the revenue or 
the expense item or as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset, as applicable; or

• When receivables and payables are stated 
with the amount of GST included.

The net amounts of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority 

is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial 
position. Commitments and contingencies 
are disclosed net of the amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority.

Cash flows are included in the statement 
of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST 
component of cash flows arising from 
investing activities, which is recoverable 
from, or payable to the taxation authority are 
classified as operating cash flows.

(j) Superannuation contribution surcharge

The Superannuation Laws Amendment 
(Abolition of Surcharge) Act 2005 abolishes 
both the superannuation contributions 
surcharge and the termination payments 
surcharge in respect of superannuation 
contributions and certain termination 
payments made or received on or after  
1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge 
in respect of contributions and payments 
for the year ended 30 June 2005 and prior 
years will continue to be issued and remain 
payable.

Superannuation Contribution Surcharge is 
levied on surchargeable contributions for a 
relevant year on the basis of the individual 
member’s adjusted taxable income for that 
year. The liability for the Superannuation 
Contribution Surcharge is recognised when 
the assessment is received, as the Trustee 
considers this is when it can be reliably 
measured.

The superannuation surcharge liability 
recognised by the Fund has been charged 
to the relevant members’ accounts.

(k) Foreign currency

The functional and presentation currency 
of the Fund is Australian Dollars, which 
is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which it operates.  The Fund’s 
performance is evaluated and its liquidity 
managed in Australian Dollars. Therefore, 

the Australian Dollar is considered as the 
currency that most faithfully represents 
the economic effects of the underlying 
transactions, events and conditions.

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially 
recorded at the functional currency spot 
rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the functional 
currency spot rates of exchange at the 
reporting date.

Exchange differences arising on the 
settlement of monetary items or on 
translating monetary items at rates different 
from those at which they were translated on 
initial recognition during the period or in a 
previous financial report, are recognised in 
the income statement in the period in which 
they arise.

Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rate as 
at the date of the initial transaction. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in 
a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value was determined.

(l) Member liabilities

Member liabilities are measured at the 
amount of accrued benefits.  Defined 
contribution member liabilities are measured 
as the amount of member account balances 
as at the reporting date.

(m) Reserves

The Fund maintains an Operational risk 
reserve, in accordance with the requirements 
established by the Australian Prudential 
Regulatory Authority under Prudential 
Standard SPS 114 Operational Risk Financial 
Requirement, and also holds Administration 
and Investment reserves. The purpose of 
these additional reserves is set out in Note 9

2. Summary of significant 
accounting policies (continued) 

(m) Reserves (continued)

The purpose of the Operational risk reserve 
is to provide protection to the Fund in 
the event that a loss is incurred from an 
operational risk event occurring. The use 
of the Operational risk reserve is governed 
by the requirements of SPS 114, which is 
applicable to all APRA-regulated funds.

All reserves operate in accordance with the 
Fund's Reserves Policy and are held at Fund 
level.

(n) Significant accounting judgements and 
estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Fund's financial 
statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. However, uncertainty 
about these assumptions and estimates 
could result in outcomes that require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount 
of the asset or liability affected in the future.

Fair Value of Investments

When the fair values of the investments 
recorded in the statement of financial 
position cannot be measured based on 
quoted prices in active markets, their fair 
value is measured using alternative valuation 

techniques. The inputs in these models 
are taken from observable markets where 
possible, but where this is not feasible, 
a degree of judgement is required to 
establish fair values. Judgements include 
considerations of inputs such as liquidity 
risk, credit risk and volatility.

Changes in assumptions about these factors 
could affect the reported fair value of these 
investments. 

Assessment as investment entity

Entities that meet the definition of 
an investment entity within AASB 10 
Consolidated financial statements, are 
required to measure their subsidiaries at 
fair value through profit or loss rather than 
consolidate them. The Fund does not have 
any unconsolidated subsidiaries. The criteria 
which define an investment entity are, as 
follows:

• An entity that obtains funds from one 
or more investors for the purpose of 
providing those investors with investment 
services;

• An entity that commits to its investors 
that its business purpose is to invest 
funds solely for returns from capital 
appreciation, investment income or both; 
and

• An entity that measures and evaluates 
the performance of substantially all of its 
investments on a fair value basis.

The Fund’s product disclosure statement 
details its objective of providing services 
to members which includes investing in 
equities, fixed income securities and private 
equity for the purpose of returns in the 
form of investment income and capital 
appreciation.

The Fund reports to its members via an 
annual report, and to its management, via 
internal management reports, on a fair value 
basis. All investments are reported at fair 
value to the extent allowed by AASB 1056 
in the Fund’s annual report. The Fund has a 
clearly documented exit strategy for all of its 
investments.

The Trustee has also concluded that the 
Fund meets the additional characteristics 
of an investment entity, in that it has more 
than one investment; the investments are 
predominantly in the form of equities and 
similar securities; it has more than one 
investor and its investors are not related 
parties.

The Trustee has therefore concluded 
that the Fund meets the definition of an 
investment entity. These conclusions will 
be reassessed on an annual basis, if any of 
these criteria or characteristics change.
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3. Member liabilities 
Member account balances are determined by crediting rates that are determined based on the underlying investment movements.

Members bear the investment risk relating to the underlying assets and crediting rates used to measure the member liabilities. 

Crediting rates were updated monthly to the end of May 2018 and subsequently moved to weekly crediting rates from 1 June 2018.

At 30 June 2018 $6,581,564 (2017: $5,929,746) have not been allocated to members' account at balance date. The amount not yet allocated 
to members’ accounts consists of contributions and insurance proceeds received by the Fund that have not been able to be allocated to 
members' accounts as at balance date.

Refer to Note 16 for the Fund’s management of the investment risks.

Member liabilities vest 100% to members.
2018 

$'000
2017 
$'000

Member liabilities as at end of the financial year 3,846,722 3,471,673 

As compared to net assets available for member benefits 3,866,247 3,510,534

4. Fair value of financial instruments
(a) Classification of financial instruments under the fair value hierarchy

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires disclosures relating to fair value measurements using a three-level fair value hierarchy.

The level within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input  that is 
significant to the fair value measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input requires judgement, considering factors specific to 
the asset or liability. The following table shows financial instruments recognised at fair value, categorised between those whose fair value is 
based on:

• Level 1 : Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2 : Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

• Level 3 : Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

30 June 2018

Level 1  
$'000

Level 2  
$'000

Level 3  
$'000

Total  
$'000

Australian Shares  853,994  3,237  10  857,241 

International Shares  2  835,968  -    835,970 

Emerging Markets  -    220,458  -    220,458 

Australian Fixed Interest  -    117,716  -    117,716 

International Fixed Interest  4,390  258,175  -    262,565 

Infrastructure  1,540  124,556  278,703  404,799 

Property  8,677  66,862  113,399  188,938 

Credit Opportunities  1,394  98,348  229,748  329,490 

Private Equity  738  36,333  -    37,071 

Absolute Return Strategies 50  156,038  -    156,088 

Derivatives  62 (32,874)  -   (32,812)

30 June 2017

Level 1  
$'000

Level 2  
$'000

Level 3  
$'000

Total  
$'000

Australian Shares 785,243 3,078  -   788,321 

International Shares  -   678,747  -   678,747 

Emerging Markets  -   208,998  -   208,998 

Australian Fixed Interest  -   103,329  -   103,329 

International Fixed Interest 3,485 229,397  -   232,882 

Infrastructure 916 86,176 273,805 360,897 

Property 2,431 51,158 104,912 158,501 

Credit Opportunities 1,266 118,696 190,515 310,477 

Private Equity 1,436 45,141  -   46,577 

Absolute Return Strategies (10) 128,852  -   128,842 

Derivatives  -   2,311  -   2,311



Prime Super Annual Report 2018
64 6565

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2018

4. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(a) Classification of financial instruments under the fair value hierarchy (continued)

Valuation technique

Unlisted debt

The Fund invests in debt securities, corporate and government bonds which are classified as Credit Opportunities financial instruments by 
the Fund. In the absence of a quoted price in an active market, they are valued using observable inputs such as recently executed transaction 
prices in securities of the issuer or comparable issuers and yield curves. Adjustments are made to the valuations when necessary to recognise 
differences in the instrument’s terms. To the extent that the significant inputs are observable, the Fund categorises these investments as Level 2.

Listed equities

When fair values of publicly traded equity securities are based on quoted market prices, or binding dealer price quotations, in an active 
market for identical assets without any adjustments, the instruments are included within Level 1 of the hierarchy. The Fund values these 
investments at bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions.

Private equity investments and unlisted equities

The Fund invests in private equity companies which are not quoted in an active market. Transactions in such investments do not occur on a 
regular basis. The Fund uses a market based valuation technique for these positions. The Fund’s investment manager determines comparable 
public companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage and strategy, and calculates an appropriate trading multiple for each comparable 
company identified. The multiple is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable company by an earnings measure. The 
trading multiple is then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and differences between the comparable companies based on 
company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted multiple is applied to the corresponding earnings measure of the investee 
company to measure the fair value. The Fund classifies the fair value of these investments as Level 3.

Unlisted unit trusts

The Fund invests in these trusts which are not quoted in an active market and which may be subject to restrictions on redemptions such as lock 
up periods, redemption gates and side pockets. The Fund has identified these unlisted unit trusts as International Shares, Emerging Markets, 
Australian Fixed Interest, International Fixed Interest, Property, Private Equity and Absolute Return Strategies financial instruments. The Fund 
considers the valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing these funds as part of its due diligence prior to investing, to ensure they are 
reasonable and appropriate and therefore the Net Asset Value ("NAV") of these funds may be used as an input into measuring their fair value. 
In measuring this fair value, the NAV of the funds is adjusted, as necessary, to reflect restrictions on redemptions, future commitments, and 
other specific factors of the fund and fund manager. In measuring fair value, consideration is also paid to any transactions in the shares of the 
fund. Depending on the nature and level of adjustments needed to the NAV and the level of trading in the fund, the Fund classifies these 
funds as either level 2 or 3.

Derivative assets and liabilities

The Fund uses widely recognised valuation models for determining fair values of over-the-counter interest rate swaps, currency swaps and 
forward foreign exchange contracts. The most frequently applied valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap models, using 
present value calculations. The models incorporate various inputs including both credit and debit valuation adjustments for counterparty and 
own credit risk, foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate curves. For these financial instruments, significant inputs into models 
are market observable and are included within Level 2.

4. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(a) Classification of financial instruments under the fair value hierarchy (continued)

Valuation process for Level 3 valuations

Valuations are the responsibility of the board of directors of the Trustee.

The valuation of these investments will generally require an assessment of their unobservable inputs, such as cash flows, investment terms, 
financial performance and outlook, comparable market transactions and an assessment of the relevant equity discount rates. As per the 
valuation policy, independent valuers are appointed to undertake this assessment and provide an estimate of the market value of these 
investment on at least an annual basis. The independent values are reviewed and the results presented to the board of directors of the 
Trustee.

For financial instruments classified in Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy some of the inputs to the valuation models are unobservable and 
therefore subjective in nature. The use of reasonably possible alternative assumptions could produce a different fair value measurement.

Generally the categorisation within the fair value hierarchy is based on the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure the fair value. The 
source of prices and valuation basis will vary depending on the security types. In principle, the observability and market activity determine the 
categorisation of an input.

Level 3 classification within the fair value hierarchy is determined using inputs that are not based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable 
inputs) or other Level 3 criteria are met. If a stock is in an inactive/illiquid market and is valued using models and internal data or if there is no 
vendor coverage for more than 365 days, then it is categorised as Level 3.

If the impact of using those alternative assumptions would cause the fair value of Level 3 assets to be higher or lower by 5% of the net assets 
of the Fund then the result for the year would have been higher or lower (in thousands) by $13,935 (2017: $13,690) for infrastructure, by $5,670 
(2017: 5,246) for property and by $11,487 (2017: $9,526) for credit opportunities.

Description
Level 3  

$ Valuation technique
Significant inputs and its 
relationship to fair value

Unlisted debt;

Private equity investments  
and unilisted equities;

Unlisted unit trusts

2018: $621,860 
2017: $569,232

Discounted cash flow valuation • Revenue cash flows

• Expense cash flows 

• Debt financing 

• Equity discount rate 

• Terminal value of the asset

Market comparables approach • EV/EBITDA multiple of 
comparable listed entity 

• EV/EBITA multiple of 
comparable transaction 

• Asset-specific factors which 
affect the selling price of a 
comparable asset

Market yield approach • Yield spread 

• Asset-specific factors which 
affect the yield spread of 
comparable assets

Net asset value based on 
value of  underlying investment

Similar to key inputs for 
discounted cash flow valuations 
and market comparables 
approach
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4. Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
(b) Level 3 reconciliation

The following table shows a reconciliation of the movement in the fair value of financial instruments categorised within level 3 between the 
beginning and the end of the reporting period:

30 June 2018
Property 

$'000

Australian 
Equities  

$'000
Other  
$'000

TOTAL  
$'000

Opening balance  104,912  -    464,320  569,232 

Total realised/unrealised gains and losses  8,218  21,638  46,174  76,030 

Purchases/Applications  1,992  170  27,999  30,161 

Sales/Redemptions  (5,281)  (13,185)  (30,477)  (48,943)

Transfers into / (out of) Level 3  3,558  (8,613)  435  (4,620)

Closing Balance  113,399  10  508,451  621,860 

30 June 2017
Property 

$'000

Australian 
Equities  

$'000
Other  
$'000

TOTAL  
$'000

Opening balance  41,380  -    248,210  289,590 

Total realised/unrealised gains and losses  29,756  20,470  42,202  92,428 

Purchases/Applications  37,439  24,303  97,163  158,905 

Sales/Redemptions  (1,240)  (235)  (17,881)  (19,357)

Transfers into / (out of) Level 3  (2,423)  (44,538)  94,626  47,665 

Closing Balance  104,912  -    464,320  569,232
 

(c) Transfers Between Hierarchy Levels

There have been no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the financial year. There was a transfer out from Level 3 financial 
instruments of $4,620,000 (2017: Transfer into Level 3 financial instruments of $47,665,000).

5. Receivables
2018  

$'000
2017  

$'000

Recoverable within 12 months

Investment income receivable  -   5 

GST receivable 435  441 

Prepayments 16  24 

Sundry receivables 197  196 

 648  666 

Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables. Information regarding credit risk exposure is set out in Note 16.

6. Payables
2018  

$'000
2017  

$'000

Insurance premiums payable 1,762  2,044 

Investment management fees payable  2,105  2,068 

Operating expenses payable  1,886  1,643 

Provision for employee benefits 883  728 

Sundry Creditors 35  75 

 6,671  6,558

Due to the short-term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

Information regarding interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk exposure is set out in Note 16. 
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7. Changes in assets measured at fair value
2018  

$'000
2017  
$'000

Investments held at balance date

Australian Shares 94,888 60,727 

International Shares 65,544 70,401 

Emerging Markets 16,568 29,916 

Australian Fixed Interest 120 (4,050)

International Fixed Interest (101) 2,122 

Infrastructure 6,280 26,544 

Property 19,428 (22,059)

Credit Opportunities 14,866 (2,075)

Private Equity (3,514) (9,014)

Absolute Return Strategies (1,373) 5,333 

Derivatives (24,812) 7,006 

Total unrealised gains/(losses) 187,894  164,851 

Investments realised during the year

Australian Shares 9,661  11,495 

International Shares  -    (54,053)

Emerging Markets 110  (188)

Cash (408)  (355)

Australian Fixed Interest (74)  -   

International Fixed Interest (2,572)  (317)

Infrastructure (349)  (292)

Property 9  (20)

Credit Opportunities (114)  (18)

Private Equity (225)  206 

Derivatives (7,601)  25,866 

Total realised gains/(losses)  (1,563)  (17,676)

Change in fair value of investments  186,331  147,175

The amounts recorded as ‘realised gains/(losses)’ above is the difference between the fair value at sale and the carrying amount at the 
beginning of the reporting period or when acquired, if acquired during the year.

8. Funding arrangements
The employers have contributed to the Fund during the financial year at a rate of 9.50% (2017: 9.50%). Member and additional employer 
contributions are paid to the Fund at a rate determined by the member and/or employer.

9. Reserves
2018  

$'000
2017  

$'000

Other reserves

 Administration reserve 5,929  25,296 

 Investment reserve 3,766  4,874 

9,695  30,170 

Operational risk reserve 9,830  8,691 

 19,525  38,861

The purpose of the Operational risk reserve is to provide protection to the Fund in the event that a loss is incurred from an operational risk 
event occurring. The use of the Operational risk reserve is governed by the requirements of SPS 114, which is applicable to all APRA-regulated 
funds. The current Operational risk reserve represents approximately 0.25% (2017: 0.25%) of the total assets of the Fund. The Trustee intends 
to maintain this reserve at 0.25% of total assets.

The purpose of the Administration reserve is to cover operational expenses not met by fee deduction from members. The Investment reserve 
is used to receive and distribute net investment income to members. Investment related expenses are met from this reserve.
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10. Income tax
2018  

$'000
2017  
$'000

(a) Major components of income tax expenses for the years ended 30 June 2018 and 2017:

Income statement

Current tax expense

 Current tax charged 5,215  4,447 

 Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years 10,421 3,228 

Deferred tax

 Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 19,445 17,300 

Total tax expense as reported in the income statement 35,082  24,975 

(b) Reconciliation between income tax expenses and the accounting profit before income tax

Profit/(loss) from operating activities 15,746 17,923 

Income tax at 15% 2,362 2,688 

 Non-deductible administration expenses 4 5 

 Derecognition of temporary differences 3,170 4,178 

 Net benefit allocated to member accounts 44,987 50,926 

 Anti-detriment deduction  404 (84)

 Assessable investment income from custodian 17,605 12,659 

 Non-assessable capital gains/(losses) 24,556 20,455 

 Non-assessable investment income (53,096) (57,914)

 Non-assessable contributions  -   767 

 Exempt pension income (2,720) (1,784)

 Net imputation and foreign tax credits (12,611) (10,148)

 Under/(over) provision in the previous year 10,421 3,228 

35,082  24,975
 

10. Income tax (continued)
2018

Opening 
Balance 

$'000

(Charged)/ 
Credited  

to income 
$'000

Closing  
Balance 

$'000

(c) Deferred Tax 

Deferred tax assets

Fund expenses accrued but not incurred  1,080 (50)  1,030 

 1,080 (50)  1,030 

Deferred tax liabilities

Income receivable  (787) 136 (651)

Unrealised gains on investments (40,031) (19,531) (59,562)

(40,818) (19,395) (60,213)

Net deferred tax (liability) / asset (39,738) (19,444) (59,183)

2017

Opening 
Balance 

$'000

(Charged)/ 
Credited  

to income 
$'000

Closing  
Balance 

$'000

Deferred tax assets

Fund expenses accrued but not incurred 1,508 (428)  1,080 

1,508 (428)  1,080 

Deferred tax liabilities

Income receivable (699) (88)  (787)

Unrealised gains on investments  (23,247) (16,784) (40,031)

(23,946) (16,872) (40,818)

Net deferred tax liability / asset (22,438) (17,300) (39,738)

The Fund offsets deferred tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax 
liabilities.
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11. Operating expenses
2018  

$'000
2017  
$'000

APRA & ASIC fees 317  325 

Audit and taxation fees 290  498 

Consulting fees  719  290 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment costs  102  113 

Legal fees 174  (239)

Marketing expenses  282  281 

Sponsorship and advertising expenses  1,840  1,000 

Trustee expenses  8,265  7,870 

Trustee and other liability insurance  180  180 

Other administration expenses  465  533 

 12,634  10,851

 
12. Auditors' remuneration

2018  
$

2017  
$

Amount received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young for:

 Audit of financial statements and annual APRA forms 130,380  106,034 

 Agreed upon procedures for investments 12,378  10,225 

Amount received or due and receivable by KPMG for:

 General internal audit services  92,972  115,368 

 Professional taxation services 108,738 112,024 

344,468 343,651

13. Cash flow statement reconciliation
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial 
position as follows:

2018  
$'000

2017  
$'000

Cash and cash equivalents 12,161  7,979 

Reconciliation of net cash from operating activities to net profit after income tax 

Profit / (loss) after income tax (19,336) (7,052)

Adjustments for:

(Increase) / decrease in assets measured at fair value (353,966) (386,095)

Other non-cash items  102  113 

(Increase) / decrease in insurance (3,856) (7,127)

(Increase) / decrease in receivables  5  2 

Increase / (decrease) in payables 126 (2,381)

Increase / (decrease) in income tax payable 27,334  5,617 

Anti-detriment deduction 488  697 

Allocation to members’ accounts 299,911  339,506 

Net cash outflows from operating activities (49,192) (56,720)

 
14. Segment information
The Fund operates solely in one reportable business segment, being the provision of superannuation benefits to members. The Fund also 
operates from one reportable geographic segment, being Australia, from where its activities are managed. Whilst the Fund operates in 
Australia only, the Fund has investment exposures in different countries and across different industries.

Revenue is derived from interest, dividends, gains on the sale of investments, unrealised changes in the value of investments, and 
contributions revenue.
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15. Related party disclosures
(a) Trustee and Key Management Personnel

The Trustee of the Fund is Prime Super Pty Ltd and is a holder of a Registrable Superannuation Entity Licence (Licence No.L0000277).

The following people were directors of Prime Super Pty Ltd during the year ended 30 June 2018 and up to the date of signing these financial 
statements:

Alan Bowman (Chairman) 

David Cooper

Gerard Parlevliet 
Duncan Fraser 
Martin Day 
Jacqueline Kelly

Liam O’Brien

Other key management personnel of the Fund are:

Lachlan Baird – Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary 
Stephen Pratt – General Manager - Operations 
Remo Memmolo – Chief Financial Officer 
Jane Kang – General Manager - Investments 
Ann Wong – General Manager - Risk and Compliance

(b) Compensation of Key Management Personnel

2018  
$'000

2017  
$'000

Short-term employee benefits (salaries, director fees)  2,087  1,786 

Post-employment benefits (superannuation)  161  151 

Other long-term benefits  25  26 

Total Compensation  2,273  1,963 

Compensation of key management personnel represents remuneration of the executive officers of the Fund and fees paid to each director of 
the Trustee for services rendered for the Fund. 

Director's remuneration is paid by the Trustee and is reimbursed by the Fund.

There are no other transactions with key management personnel.

The following directors and key management personnel were members of Prime Super during the reporting period and up to the date of the 
financial statements:

Lachlan Baird 
Alan Bowman 
David Cooper 
Duncan Fraser 
Martin Day 
Jacqueline Kelly 
Gerard Parlevliet

Remo Memmolo 
Stephen Pratt

Ann Wong 
Jane Kang

Their membership terms and conditions are the same as those applied to other members of the Fund.     
  

15. Related party disclosures (continued)
(c) Related Party Transactions

During the financial year the Fund has provided reimbursement for services rendered by Prime Super Pty Ltd, e.g. director fees and 
superannuation guarantee payments, allowances, training, director travel expenses, KPMG consulting fees and trustee liability insurance.

The following related party transactions occurred during the 2018 financial year.       

(i) Trustee management fees to the value of $777,684 (2017: $719,345) were charged to Prime Super.

(ii) There is currently a receivable from Prime Super for $18,055 as at 30 June 2018 (2017: $17,325).

Remuneration for the ‘other key management personnel of the Fund’ is paid directly by Prime Super.

16. Financial risk management objectives and policies 
(a) Introduction

The Fund’s principal financial instruments comprise equity, private equity, units in unit trusts, fixed interest securities, infrastructure, properties 
and cash. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to generate a return on investment.

The Fund also has other financial instruments such as receivables and payables, which arise directly from its operations; these are considered 
insignificant and are mainly current in nature.

The Fund enters into derivative transactions, principally fixed interest futures and foreign exchange contracts, for the purpose of managing 
financial risks associated with the Fund’s investment transactions, and as a means of effecting a change in the asset mix. Investments in 
derivatives are limited to the asset allocation limits for the underlying investment class.

Risks arising from holding financial instruments are inherent in the Fund’s activities, and are managed through a process of ongoing 
identification, measurement and monitoring. The Fund is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including interest rate risk, equity 
price risk and foreign currency risk.

The Trustee recognises that there are risks arising from holding financial instruments. These risks are identified, monitored and managed by 
appropriately applying relevant controls. Oversight of these risks is carried out by the Trustee through the Investment Committee with advice 
from an external investment adviser and internal management.

The Trustee is responsible for identifying and controlling the risks that arise from these financial instruments. The Trustee reviews and agrees 
policies for managing each of these risks as summarised below. The Trustee also monitors the market price risk arising from all financial 
instruments.

This information is prepared and reported to the Trustee on a regular basis.

Concentrations of risk arise when a number of financial instruments or contracts are entered into with the same counterparty, or when a 
number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, have activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic 
features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other 
conditions.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Trustee monitors its exposure to ensure concentrations of risk remain within acceptable 
levels as per the Fund’s Investment Policy Statement and either reduces exposure or uses derivative instruments to manage the excessive risk 
concentrations when they arise.

The Fund’s accounting policies in relation to derivatives are set out in note 2.
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16. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Fund. As a means 
of mitigating the risk of financial loss, the Fund has adopted the policy of spreading the aggregate value of transactions concluded amongst 
approved counterparties with at least investment grade qualities. The Fund’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are 
monitored by the Trustee.

Credit risk arising on investments is mitigated by extensive pre-appointment due diligence on investment managers, specific investment 
agreements, appropriate monitoring and benchmark analysis. The Fund does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single 
counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. It is the opinion of the Trustee that the carrying amounts of these 
financial assets represent the maximum credit risk exposure at the reporting date. There are no financial assets that are past due or imparied. 

The following table outlines Standard and Poor's rating categories for direct investments of the Fund held in cash and cash equivalents as 
reflected on the statement of financial position. The rating category included in the table is that applicable to this Fund. The table excludes 
any rating categories applicable to the underlying assets of the pooled unit trusts and for other interest bearing securities where a rating is not 
publicly available.

Direct investments 
AAA to AA- 

$'000
A+ to A  

$'000
BBB+ to BB-

$'000
Total  

$'000

2018

Cash and cash equivalents 12,161  -    -   12,161

Managed funds/Cash 539,215  -    -   539,215

Total 551,376  -    -   551,376

2017

Cash and cash equivalents 7,979  -    -   7,979

Managed funds/Cash 517,815  -    -   517,815

Total 525,794  -    -   525,794

 

16. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The Fund’s financial 
instruments include investments in unlisted investments that are not traded in an organised public market which generally may be illiquid. 
As a result, there is a risk that the Fund may not be able to liquidate all of these investments at their fair value in order to meet its liquidity 
requirements. This risk is controlled through the Fund’s investment monitoring and policies that ensures the Fund maintains sufficient cash and 
cash equivalents to meet normal operating requirements.

The Fund’s significant financial liabilities are payables, current tax liabilities and members' liabilities.

The Fund manages its obligation to pay the defined contribution component on an expected maturity basis based on management’s 
estimates and past experience of when such funds will be drawn down by members. The Fund considers it is highly unlikely that all defined 
contribution members will request to roll over their superannuation fund at the same time.

Other financial liabilities of the Fund comprise insignificant trade and other payables which are typically settled within 30 days.

Year ended

Less than  
1 month  

$’000

Less than  
3 months  

$’000

3 months  
to 1 year  

$’000
1-5 years  

$’000
5+ years  

$’000
Total  

$’000

30 June 2018

Member liabilities 3,846,722  -    -    -    -   3,846,722

Payables 6,671  -    -    -    -   6,671

Net swaps  -    -    -   (2,047) (374) (2,421)

Futures  -   (411)  -    -    -   (411)

Foreign exchange contract – 

Inflows 209,914  314,054  536,501  75,792  -   1,136,261

(Outflows) (216,161) (324,731) (548,282) (77,068)  -   (1,166,242)

Total 3,847,146 (11,088) (11,781) (3,323) (374) 3,820,580

30 June 2017

Member liabilities 3,471,673  -    -    -    -   3,471,673

Payables 6,558  -    -    -    -   6,558

Net swaps  -    -    -   (3,889) (45) (3,933)

Futures  -   415  -    -    -   415 

Foreign exchange  contract – 

Inflows 358,930 186,508 471,864 48,654  -   1,065,956 

(Outflows) (355,242) (186,092) (470,146) (48,647)  -   (1,060,127)

Total 3,481,919 831 1,718 (3,882) (45) 3,480,542
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16. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(d) Market risk

Market risk represents the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument (or its issuer) or factors affecting all instruments in the 
market. Market risk is minimised through ensuring that all investment activities are undertaken in accordance with established mandate limits 
and investment strategies.

Market risk comprises three types of risk:

• interest rate risk,

• currency risk, and

• other price risk

(i) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of interest bearing 
financial instruments. The Fund has set investment allocation ranges to meet its objectives of holding a balanced portfolio, including limits on 
investments in interest bearing assets, which are monitored regularly.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the reporting date and the stipulated change 
taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period. A 50 basis point increase or decrease 
with all other variables held constant is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to the Trustee and represents the Trustee’s assessment 
of the possible change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis as for 2017 and is not guaranteed.

The change in interest rates approximates the volatility as measured by the change in the RBA cash rate. This information is then adjusted for 
reasonableness under current economic circumstances.

Effect on

Change in variables: Profit after income tax Net assets available for 
member benefits

2018  
+ / -

2017  
+ / -

2018  
$’000

2017  
$’000

2018  
$’000

2017  
$’000

Interest rate risk

Variable interest securities 0.50% 0.50%  1,569  (3)  1,569  (3)

Fixed interest securities 0.50% 0.50%  (4,397)  (5,044)  (4,397)  (5,044)

Swap 0.50% 0.50%  1,719  2,313  1,719  2,313 

 (1,109)  (2,734)  (1,109)  (2,734)

Interest rate risk

Variable interest securities -0.50% -0.50%  (1,567)  5  (1,567)  5 

Fixed interest securities -0.50% -0.50%  4,398  5,045  4,398  5,045 

Swap -0.50% -0.50%  (1,719)  (2,313)  (1,719)  (2,313)

 1,112  2,737  1,112  2,737

16. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 
exchange rates. The currency risk disclosures do not take into account the foreign exchange exposures as a result of direct investments 
denominated in Australian dollars and not on a look through basis. Currency risks in the unit trusts are managed by the respective managers of 
the unit trusts.

The Fund’s statement of financial position and income statement can be affected by movements in foreign currencies (USD, GBP, EUR, YEN 
and other currencies) when translated to AUD.  The Fund manages its exposure to foreign currency risk and mitigates effects of its foreign 
currency translation exposure by adhering to the Fund’s Investment Policy Statement which limits the portion of the Fund's assets which can 
be invested in different currencies in addition to taking out foreign exchange contracts.  Prime Super’s targeted level of foreign exposure 
is monitored on an ongoing basis and adjusted from time to time in accordance with any meaningful changes in business risk estimates or 
assessments regarding the medium-term outlook for the Australian dollar.

The table below indicates the currencies to which the Fund had significant exposure at 30 June 2018 on its monetary assets and liabilities 
and forecast cash flows. The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the currency rate against the Australian 
Dollar on the statement of financial position, with all other variables held constant where a +10%/-10% change in currency rate represents a 
depreciation/appreciation of the Australian Dollar relative to the foreign currency.

Currency

2018 2017

Change in 
currency rate 

%

Profit after 
income tax 

$’000

Change in 
currency rate 

%

Profit after 
income tax 

$’000

USD +10 17,650 +10 6,545

Euro +10 3,045 +10 2,646

Yen +10 2,736 +10 1033

GBP +10 1277 +10 711

Other +10 (307) +10 (851)

Currency

2018 2017

Change in 
currency rate 

%

Profit after 
income tax 

$’000

Change in 
currency rate 

%

Profit after 
income tax 

$’000

USD -10 (17,650) -10 (6,545)

Euro -10 (3,045) -10 (2,646)

Yen -10 (2,736) -10 (1,033)

GBP -10 (1,277) -10 (711)

Other -10 307 -10 851

The change in currency rates used approximates the volatility as measured by a weighted basket of foreign exchange rate movements over 
the period between 1993 and 2018.
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16. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
(d) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Other Price Risk

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value of investments decreases or increases as a result of changes in market prices, whether those 
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual share price or factors affecting all equity instruments in the market. Equity price risk 
exposure arises from the Fund’s investment portfolio.

To limit price risk the Trustee diversifies its investment portfolio in line with the Fund’s Investment Policy Statement. The majority of equity 
investments are of a high quality and are publicly traded on recognised, reputable exchanges.  The Trustee monitors the Fund’s exposure to 
various indices on an ongoing basis throughout the year ensuring the policy is not breached.

The effect on the income statement due to a reasonably possible change in market factors, as represented by the equity indices, with all other 
variables held constant is indicated in the table below.

2018 2017

Index/Benchmark

Change in 
investment 

price %
Effect on net assets / 

investment returns $’000

Change in 
investment 

price %
Effect on net assets / 

Investment returns $’000

Australian Shares 15.15 / (15.15) 110,391 / (110,391) 15.4 / (15.4) 103,191 / (103,191)

International Shares 14.8 / (14.8) 105,165 / (105,165) 15.25 / (15.25) 87,983 / (87,983)

Emerging Markets 20.25 / (20.25) 37,946 / (37,946) 20.75 / (20.75) 36,862 / (36,862)

Australian Fixed Interest 4 / (4) 4,002 / (4,002) 4.25 / (4.25) 3,733 / (3,733)

International Fixed Interest 3.5 / (3.5) 7,811 / (7,811) 3.5 / (3.5) 6,928 / (6,928)

Infrastructure 7.5 / (7.5) 25,806 / (25,806) 9 / (9) 27,609 / (27,609)

Property 7 / (7) 11,242 / (11,242) 6.5 / (6.5) 8,757 / (8,757)

Credit Opportunities 8.25 / (8.25) 23,105 / (23,105) 8.2 / (8.2) 21,640 / (21,640)

Private Equity 13.25 / (13.25) 4,175 / (4,175) 13.75 / (13.75) 5,444 / (5,444)

Absolute Return Strategies 7.5 / (7.5) 9,951 / (9,951)  8 / (8)  8,761 / (8,761)

The sensitivity analysis calculation for the infrastructure and other unlisted investments is determined based on the total of the unlisted unit 
trusts, investment linked insurance policies and private equity and equities within these investments.

17. Insurance
The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. These benefits are greater than the members’ vested benefits and as such the 
Trustee has a group policy in place with a third party to insure death and disability benefits in excess of vested benefits. The Trustee acts as an 
agent for these arrangements.

18. Commitments and contingent liabilities
The Fund has no commitments or contingent liabilities.

19. Significant events after balance date 
Prime Super and Combined Super have signed a Successor Fund Transfer Deed on 30 August 2018 in relation to a merger of the two funds.
The transaction date of the merger is 31 December 2018. Approximately $1 billion of assets will transfer to Prime Super at the execution of the 
merger.

8181

In the opinion of the Trustee of Prime Super Fund:

(i)  the accompanying financial statements of Prime Super Fund are properly drawn up so as to present fairly the financial position of the 
Fund as at 30 June 2018 and the results of their operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia; and

(ii)  the Fund has been conducted in accordance with its constituent Trust Deed dated 16 November 1993 (as amended) and the requirements 
of the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 and Regulations and the Corporations Act 2001 and Regulations during the year.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of Prime Super Pty Ltd.

Signed at Melbourne this 25th day of September 2018

  

Alan Bowman Martin Day 
Chairman Director

Trustee Statement
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Report by the RSE Auditor
to the trustee and members
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Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of Prime Super for the year ended 30 June 2018 
comprising the statement of financial position, income statement, statement of changes in 
member benefits, statement of cash flows and statement of changes in reserves.

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards the financial position of Prime super as at 30 June 
2018 and the results of its operations, cash flows, changes in equity/reserves and changes in 
members’ benefits for the year ended 30 June 2018.

Basis for Opinion
I conducted the audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of 
my report. I am independent of the entity in accordance with the auditor independence 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial 
statements in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion.

Responsibilities of the Trustee for the Financial Statements

The RSE's trustee is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the requirements of the 
Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 (SIS Act) and the Superannuation Industry 
(Supervision) Regulations 1994 (SIS Regulations). The trustee is also responsible for such 
internal control as the trustee determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustee is responsible for assessing the ability of 
the RSE to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustee either intends to 
liquidate the RSE or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an audit report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercised 
professional judgement and maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:

• Identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, designed and performed audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtained audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the RSE’s internal control.

• Evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the trustee.

• Concluded on the appropriateness of the trustee’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the RSE’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am 
required to draw attention in my auditor report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my auditor opinion. My auditor 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my audit report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the RSE to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• Evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Communicated with the trustee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identified during my audit.

 

ERNST & YOUNG  Maree Pallisco 
Partner

   Melbourne 
25 September 2018

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Ernst & Young 
200 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia 
GPO Box 2646 Sydney NSW 2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959 
ey.com/au



Item Prime Super Comment

Insurance for members 
under 25 or with low 
balances
Superannuation funds will be required 
to only offer insurance on an opt in 
basis where accounts have balances 
below $6,000; or where new members 
are under 25 years old; or the account 
has been inactive for at least 13 
months. This measure is due to come 
in from 1 July 2019.

While we agree that the industry 
should adopt measures to stop 
member’s retirement savings from 
being eroded, we feel that this 
solution under values the benefit of 
insurance.

The proposal that default insurance 
cover should not be provided to 
those under the age of 25 raises some 
concern. We all know that most young 
people will not make a choice about 
insurance or superannuation, so the 
vast majority of those under the age 
of 25 will have no insurance cover at 
all, therefore any of these people that 
are affected by an event that leads to 
total or permanent incapacitation will 
not have the benefit of the insurance 
through their superannuation to fall 
back on.

This proposed policy also introduces 
the concept that insurance cover is 
tied to the amount of money that is in 
a superannuation account, as opposed 
to being related to whether an 
individual is working or not. Potentially 
all new entrants into the workforce 
or those with broken work patterns 
will not have insurance cover for 
long periods of their life. We believe 
that this increases the risk that these 
individuals will not benefit from death 
or TPD cover.

Ban on exit fees
From 1 July 2019, superannuation 
funds will be banned from charging 
exit fees for any account.

Prime Super welcomes this measure. 
We removed our exit fee many years 
ago as we believe people should not 
be penalised for choosing a different 
super fund.

2018 Budget 
proposed changes  
to superannuation  
 
The Treasurer handed down 
his third budget in May and 
forecast a return to surplus 
by 2019/20. There were a 
number of proposals that 
impact superannuation –  
in Prime Super’s view some 
are positive and some not 
so positive.
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Item Prime Super Comment

Inactive accounts
All accounts where balances are 
below $6,000 and no contribution 
has been received for 13 months 
will be required to be transferred to 
the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) 
and the ATO will be given powers to 
reunite ATO-held accounts with the 
member’s other active super account/s 
where possible. It is proposed that the 
first transfer will take place on  
30 June 2019.

We support measures that seek to re-
unite people with their lost super and 
to address the problem of multiple 
accounts within the superannuation 
industry. However, it is important 
that individuals fully understand the 
outcome of the consolidation of their 
superannuation, and the benefits 
of the insurance cover that they 
will no longer receive through their 
superannuation. In some cases an 
individual may have a much better 
outcome through having a second 
small superannuation account balance 
with insurance than just having one 
superannuation account.

Reduced fees for members  
with low account balances
The government is proposing a 
maximum cap on administration 
and investment fees charged on 
superannuation accounts with 
balances of $6,000 or less, at  
3 per cent of the account balance.  
It is proposed that this measure will 
take place from 1 July 2019.

We would like to see more information 
on this proposed measure to 
understand how this can work in 
practice and remain equitable for 
all members. This measure is some 
more “Back to the Future” policy, as 
it is essentially reintroducing member 
protection requirements for low 
account balances, which was removed 
a number of years ago.

More information
The full package of Budget announcements is at https://www.budget.gov.au/ which includes 
a forecast surplus by 2019/20. Important to note always is that the Budget announcement 
includes proposed reform. Prime Super will keep you informed on progress on the super-
related reforms as they occur.
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The Trustee will assist you with any questions 
you may have about the Fund and your 
membership. Information available includes, 
but is not limited to, annual reports, 
documents such as the Trust Deed, audited 
financial statements, auditor’s reports, 
investment strategy information, information 
on enquiries and complaints procedures, 
insurance policies andthe risk management 
strategy. This information is available on the 
website or you may request it in hard copy. 

You can request information and answers 
to any questions by contacting us by mail, 
phone, fax or email.

Post  Prime Super  
 Locked Bag 5103  
 Parramatta NSW 2124 

Phone  Freecall 1800 675 839  
 (8am-8pm Sydney time  
 Monday – Friday) 

Fax  Freefax 1800 023 662 

Email  administration@primesuper.com.au 

Web  primesuper.com.au

Superannuation Surcharge Tax
The Commonwealth Government abolished 
the surcharge tax on contributions received 
after 30 June 2005. However, surcharge tax 
assessments relating to past periods are 
still payable. Should we receive a surcharge 
assessment from a member, any tax payable 
will be deducted from the member’s 
account.

Material Service Providers
The Trustee uses a range of material service 
providers to look after the Fund and its 
investments.

Administrator

Australian Administration Services  
Pty Limited  
(ABN 62 003 429 114)

Custodian

National Australia Bank Limited 
(ABN 12 004 044 937)

Insurer

The Colonial Mutual Life Assurance Society 
Limited (ABN 12 004 021 809, AFSL 235035) 
(CMLA) 

Investment advisers

Whitehelm Capital (ABN 68 008 636 717)

Investment managers

AllianceBernstein Investment Management 
Australia Limited (ABN 58 007 212 606)

Vinva Investment Management Limited 
(ABN 38 142 528 783)

Macquarie Investment Management Global 
Limited (ABN 90 086 159 060)

Auditors

Ernst & Young (ABN 75 288 172 749)

KPMG Australia (ABN 51 194 660 183)

How to  
contact us  
 

Important information  
about your membership  
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